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Terms of Reference for the Inquiry: 

To inquire into and report on: 

That a select committee, to be known as the Select Committee on the Aboriginal Flag, be established to inquire into and 

report on current and former copyright and licensing arrangements for the Aboriginal flag design, with particular reference to:  
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Aboriginal communities and the broader Australian community of the current copyright and licensing arrangements;  

b. options available to the Government to enable the Aboriginal Flag design to be freely used by the Australian community, 

including:  

i. negotiated outcomes with licence and/or copyright holders:  

ii. the compulsory acquisition of licences and/or copyright,  

iii. ways to protect the rights and interests of the flag's legally recognised creator Mr Harold Thomas; and  

c. any other matters relevant to the enduring and fair use of the Aboriginal Flag design by the Aboriginal and Australian 

community. 
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LANGTON, Dr Marcia, AO, Private capacity 

Evidence was taken via teleconference—  

Committee met at 10:02 

CHAIR (Senator McCarthy):  I declare this public hearing for the Senate select committee on the Aboriginal 

flag open. I acknowledge the Ngunnawal and Ngambri people, the traditional custodians of the land on which we 

meet here in Canberra, as well as the traditional custodians of the lands from which senators and witnesses are 

participating remotely. I pay my respect to their elders past, present and emerging. The committee's proceedings 

today will follow the program as circulated. These are public proceedings being broadcast live via the web and in 

Parliament House. I remind witnesses that in giving evidence to the committee they are protected by 

parliamentary privilege. It is unlawful for anyone to threaten or disadvantage a witness on account of evidence 

given to a committee and such action may be treated by the Senate as a contempt. It is also a contempt to give 

false or misleading evidence to the committee. The committee prefers evidence to be given in public but, under 

the Senate's resolutions, witnesses have the right to request to be heard in confidence, which is described as being 

in camera. If you are a witness today and intend to request to give evidence in camera, please bring this to the 

attention of the secretariat as soon as possible. If a witness objects to answering a question the witness should 

state the ground upon which the objection is taken and the committee will determine whether it will insist on an 

answer, having regard to the ground which is claimed. If the committee determines to insist on an answer, a 

witness may request that the answer be given in camera. Such a request may, of course, also be made at any other 

time.  

With the formalities over, I welcome everyone here today. I would certainly like to welcome Professor Marcia 

Langton. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence here today. Information about parliamentary privilege 

has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. Professor, you are welcome to make a brief 

opening statement before I invite questions of the senators.  

Dr Langton:  Thank you. I also acknowledge the traditional owners both here in Narrm, the Wurundjeri 

people of the Kulin nation, and the Ngunawal people of Canberra, where Parliament House sits, and pay my 

respects to their elders past and present. Thank you for the opportunity to speak to the committee on the matter of 

the Aboriginal flag. I have a short statement to make, and that is that I do not believe that the compulsory 

acquisition of the licences and/or copyright of the Aboriginal flag is appropriate. First of all, there are 

constitutional issues and, moreover, it is my very strong view that the cultural property and the intellectual 

property of Mr Harold Thomas should not be compulsorily taken away from him.  

I say this for a number of reasons. One is that he is an Aboriginal person, and doing so would create a very bad 

precedent in terms of breaching the Constitution and any appearance of an act based on racial discrimination. 

Two, he is a member of the stolen generations, and for the government to cause him harm a second time would be 

unconscionable. His ownership of the rights in the Aboriginal flag has been affirmed by the Federal Court. The 

only way forward is for him to voluntarily relinquish all of his rights to the Australian government, and I 

understand, from reading newspapers, that Minister Ken Wyatt is engaged in negotiations with him to acquire the 

rights in the flag and to overcome all the problems with the licences that have been issued by acquiring all rights.  

If those negotiations are successful, then the flag should be in the ownership of a Commonwealth body that 

acts as a trust and which would have an Aboriginal board—a small board, say three people—to give approvals for 

its use. It also should be covered by Commonwealth legislation setting out very clearly the way in which the flag 

is used. The flag is already, of course, an official Australian flag, but, unlike the Torres Strait Islander flag, it's not 

owned by an Aboriginal body. The only way to overcome that problem, as far as I can see, is to put it into some 

kind of trust arrangement with legislation, but firmly under the control of an Aboriginal board of directors of a 

trust kind of arrangement.  

The flag does have enormous meaning for Aboriginal people. It would be a very sad thing if the commercial 

use of the flag were to taint the meaning of a flag to Aboriginal people everywhere who use it in everyday life—

in sports, in our functions, NAIDOC day, Reconciliation Week, the opening of institutions. I, myself, wear 

Aboriginal flag colours and also wore them to my graduation, at Macquarie University, over my gown in 2005 

when I was awarded a PhD. This has become quite a normal practice throughout the university sector. 

In order to overcome the way in which the flag has, I believe, been tainted by the commercial licences in the 

flag the Australian government, under the guidance of senior Aboriginal people, should publish a history of the 

Aboriginal flag to explain to the community its meaning and to give the public some sense of the outcome of this 

inquiry, the outcome of negotiations—I do hope those negotiations are successful. If they are not, then the only 

alternative we have is to have a competition for a new flag. I think that would be a tragic outcome. I think it's 
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enormously important to preserve the flag designed by Mr Harold Thomas as the Aboriginal flag. I'll will leave 

my opening statement there. Thank you. 

Senator BRAGG:  Thank you for your time and thank you for all the work that you are doing to develop an 

Indigenous voice, which is another important initiative. I have a broad question and then a narrow question. The 

Aboriginal flag appears to have almost universal support amongst Indigenous Australians. Would that be a fair 

characterisation? 

Dr Langton:  I believe so, yes. That's why I'm appearing before the committee. 

Senator BRAGG:  My narrow question is: as you alluded to in your remarks, the Commonwealth government, 

the executive government, is negotiating with Mr Thomas. If those negotiations were successful and the 

Commonwealth was to in some way acquire the right to the flag, are you then suggesting that the flag in a day-to-

day sense could be governed in trust through a part of the department, or a part of the government that engages 

formally with Indigenous people? 

Dr Langton:  I'm recommending a trust kind of arrangement, and so that would involve a completely 

independent body. There are such independent bodies that have been established by legislation. For example, the 

Auditor-General Act establishes an independent officer of the parliament with responsibility for auditing 

Commonwealth entities. The appointment is made by the Governor-General on the advice of the PM, in 

accordance with the recommendation of a joint committee of parliament. The act provides a useful model in terms 

of ensuring independence, a direct relationship to the joint committee of parliament, the guarantee of 

parliamentary appropriations to fund work for the creation of the office and the staff. What I'm recommending 

doesn't need to be so elaborate, but it is an example of an independent body. 

Another example is the Commonwealth Ombudsman Act, which establishes the independent office of the 

Ombudsman. So the flag would need to be owned by the Commonwealth, there would need to be legislation 

which establishes an independent body—so I am not recommending that a government department deal with the 

flag—and the independent body would need to be governed by an Aboriginal board. 

Senator BRAGG:  So the Commonwealth would effectively own the rights and then there'd be a legislative 

framework run by Aboriginal people effectively? 

Dr Langton:  Yes. It's quite normal for a flag to be owned by government. In this case, it's an extraordinary 

and quite strange history that this flag is not owned by the government. But, nevertheless, it's very important that 

the flag is owned by the government of Australia but that there are checks and balances in legislation that sets out 

very clearly the ownership and the use of the flag and how the use of the flag in special circumstances would be 

determined by an independent body. But most uses of the flag should be freely available to every Aboriginal 

person, club, corporation and association without any financial impost so that the flag can be used freely. It would 

only be in extraordinary circumstances, particularly in relation to commercial uses of the flag, that the 

independent body I am recommending would have a mandate to consider that matter. 

Senator BRAGG:  Okay. Thank you very much. 

Senator THORPE:  Professor Langton, during your work with community, have you noticed or have you had 

mentioned to you the community distress about the uncertainty around the flag? What are some of the issues that 

you are hearing from community about the flag? 

Dr Langton:  Yes, people are very upset about it. They're upset about the fact that there are non-Indigenous 

business entities making a profit from their licence to use the flag that enables them to make a profit. But my view 

is that Harold Thomas has had legal rights for a very long time to issue licences to whomever he pleases, and, of 

course, there's more than one. It's a very unfortunate outcome. But his ownership of the flag needs to be treated 

with respect. A lot of people are texting me and asking me if we ought to have a competition to have another flag 

because they are pretty upset about the way that the flag is being commercially exploited. 

Like any flag, it has a certain sacred quality to all of those people who have given it meaning. And, as 

somebody pointed out—a Gunditjmara woman, I believe—the flag would not have the meaning it has today 

solely on the basis of Harold Thomas's design. It has the meaning it has today because of all the Aboriginal 

people who have flown it and used it as a symbol. It's that long history of Aboriginal use that has given it the 

meaning it has today. It is a uniting symbol for Aboriginal people. It's a symbol that gives Aboriginal people pride 

in their cultural identity. That matter should be, I think, paramount in your considerations. How do we preserve 

the great cultural symbolism of the flag and overcome the taint that the commercial use of it has resulted in but at 

the same time respect Harold Thomas's legal rights in it?  

And so, of course, only his voluntary relinquishment, in successful negotiations presently being led by the federal 

minister, could overcome the problem. 
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Senator THORPE:  We've also heard from community about how removing copyright from an Aboriginal 

artist would be seen as problematic, particularly given the history of First Nations people and the government—

stolen wages, land displacements, stolen generations and many other instances where First Nations people have 

had their property and their rights forcibly taken. Do you have a view on how Commonwealth ownership of the 

flag might raise similar issues of government ownership or control? 

Dr Langton:  That's why I'm recommending that an independent body under legislation, with an Aboriginal 

board of governance, is a potential solution to that problem. I note that the Torres Strait Islander flag is owned by 

a Torres Strait Islander corporation. That would be the ideal outcome for the Aboriginal flag as well. I'm not 

ruling that out as a good solution. The Torres Strait Islander flag is owned by the Torres Strait Island Regional 

Council. Unfortunately, Aboriginal people have no single body to represent us. That's why I've accepted the 

invitation from the minister to serve on the senior advisory group for the national voice co-design. Until we have 

a national voice, hopefully one that's recognised in the Constitution, we have no body that could own the 

copyright in the flag. If, in fact, a national voice is an outcome and there is legislation, and especially if it is 

recognised in the Constitution, the independent body would then be able to hand over its responsibilities to that 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander body. Perhaps there could be a section in the legislation that provides for 

that. 

Of course, what you say is right. If the government were to compulsorily acquire Harold Thomas's rights, it 

would add to the long history of injustices, some of which you've mentioned—the stolen generations and the 

stolen wages. This would be another act of theft against an Aboriginal man who has already suffered by being 

removed from his family. The compulsory acquisition of his rights must be avoided. It would be a disastrous 

outcome to take that route. And it would further taint the flag and cause great division in the Aboriginal 

community. 

One of the issues that this problem brings up is the fact that Harold Thomas has been forced into the position 

he is in. Seeking legal remedy to the first declaration of government ownership of the flag, he went to the Federal 

Court and his rights were affirmed by the Federal Court. He used ordinary intellectual property rights, cultural 

property rights, that are available to anybody, and then he issued licences in order to make a living and to provide 

for his family. But what all this raises is the unfortunate situation that the present legislation does not protect 

Indigenous cultural property, Indigenous knowledge. This has been an enormous problem for all Aboriginal 

artists for a very long time. There is an absence of legislation and mechanisms for protecting the rights of 

Aboriginal artists to enable them to own the property that is Aboriginal and is inherited. This failure to legislate 

for Aboriginal and Torres Strait ownership of cultural property has led us into this situation. 

There's a very good discussion paper by Terri Janke called 'Indigenous knowledge: issues for protection and 

management'. This was commissioned by IP Australia and the Department of Industry, Innovation and Science. I 

refer you to this paper by Terri Janke. It sets out all of the issues. At the end she has an appendix of simple 

mechanisms that could be implemented now to enable Aboriginal artists to protect their cultural property. This is 

a very comprehensive paper. She has written quite a few other papers on this matter. I believe she is the 

Australian expert on these matters. Partly my idea for an independent body comes from the way that she has 

devised some mechanisms for remedy in the absence of legislation that protects our cultural property rights and 

our intellectual property. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Professor. 

Senator DODSON:  Good morning, Professor Langton. 

Dr Langton:  Good morning, Professor Dodson—I mean Senator Dodson. 

Senator DODSON:  Yes, for my sins, I sit in that place with the red carpet. Thank you for your contribution. I 

wouldn't mind exploring a bit the tension point between individual Aboriginal artists holding their copyright or 

their rights and the notion of community collective ownership of cultural property. You'd be aware of course of 

the Johnny Bulun Bulun determination in the court. His rights were upheld, but the rights of the clan to cultural 

property weren't. I heard your comments about compulsory acquisition not being the mechanism to resolve this. 

You did mention though that the way the commercial rights are being exercised by the companies that hold 

them—and WAM is one of the companies—is potentially where the problem lies. Is that a fair summary of the 

situation here? 

Dr Langton:  Yes, that's right. That's why I say that all around the world it's normal for governments to own 

flags and all interests in the national flag, but this is a special case with its own peculiar history. As I said, the flag 

has values that are attached because of the investment of thousands of Aboriginal people during its history. Those 

people have rights. I can't define those rights other than, like you say, that they are some form of common cultural 
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property that ought to be very much a part of the considerations here and the solutions that are found. That's why I 

raised the issue of the absence of legislation to protect customary Aboriginal cultural property. It is not protected 

under Australian law. That is why the late Mr Bullen Bullen's rights as an individual artist are protected but not 

the rights of his clan, and it's a very good analogy for the situation we're in at the moment. That's why I 

recommend legislation that very clearly sets out all the matters that need to be taken into account. So the 

importance of the flag and the rights of all Aboriginal people in the flag must be mentioned in the legislation. 

Senator DODSON:  If the government were minded to do anything about compulsory acquisition at all, 

should that be done on the basis of it being limited to the acquisition of the people who've got contracts—maybe 

not in all cases—particularly the ones that are causing trouble to the Aboriginal community? That is, the 

acquisition in fact is in relation to the commercial entity that has rights under contract with Mr Thomas and still 

preserve his copyright interests and opportunities. 

Dr Langton:  No. There is no way. I am totally opposed to compulsory acquisition of any kind. I could be 

wrong—you'd have to talk to a good constitutional lawyer on this—but I cannot see how any compulsory 

acquisition could be regarded as the way forward. There are multiple rights in the flag now. There are Harold 

Thomas's rights, there are the licensee's rights, there are the rights of Aboriginal people who hold the flag as a 

kind of sacred symbol, and I would argue that, because it is an Australian flag and many Australians join us in 

gathering at events where the flag is the central symbol, all Australians have rights in the flag as well. So, yes, I 

can see why compulsory acquisition would be attractive, but it wouldn't solve the problem. Even if you tried to 

carve it up in the way that you suggest, there's nothing to stop Mr Thomas from issuing further licences. There 

must be a voluntary and total relinquishment of his rights to the Australian government in order to overcome the 

problems. I could be wrong, but that's the only way forward that I can see. He's given licences to at least WAM 

Clothing, GiftsMate and Flagworld. There might be others. Can you take away his rights to issue further licences? 

I don't see how you can do that without committing an injustice. How could the Australian government do that 

without being unjust to Mr Harold Thomas? That's the problem. 

Senator DODSON:  The other aspect is obviously the nature of the contract that he has entered into with these 

particular licensees. We don't have a clue what the nature of that contract is, but surely it would be open to him to 

vary the contract or, if there is a clause within that contract, to protect the rights and interests of those 

organisations and Aboriginal individuals who use the flag, not for commercial gain but in the manner that we've 

become accustomed to, that's squarely in the province of Mr Thomas and the contract that he's now entered into, 

isn't it? 

Dr Langton:  That's right. I've read up on this—not the technical literature; I don't think there is any—an 

article by a professor of law, Isabella Alexander, in The Conversation. She's at the University of Technology 

Sydney. She says: 

It is true the federal government has the power to change the law, but whether it can easily "fix" the situation is more 

doubtful. 

One option would be to pass a law that specifically takes the copyright away from Thomas and gives it to the government. 

However, such a law could run afoul of the Constitution, which provides that the Commonwealth can acquire property from a 

person, but must compensate them on "just terms". 

Then she says, as you do, Senator Dodson: 

A less drastic solution could be to introduce a law that restricted Thomas' ability to grant licences of his copyright. 

Although this might avoid constitutional issues, it would nevertheless be 'politically and culturally controversial', 

she says, 'as they would involve either taking away property from an Indigenous man, or severely restricting his 

autonomy around it'. I think that's a fair summary of the situation. 

She does suggest legislation drawing inspiration from the Australian Law Reform Commission's 2014 fair use 

proposal: 

This would need legislation to stipulate Thomas' copyright would not be infringed by anyone making "fair use" of the flag. 

This could include applying the flag to clothing for charitable purposes, private uses such as tattoos, as well as the production 

of images that incorporate the flag for cultural, social or political events. 

At the same time, this would not deprive Thomas of the ability to license the flag for purely commercial uses. 

If those are your options, all of us still face the problem that without compulsory acquisition—which I don't 

support—he would still be free to licence the flag for commercial purposes. I think that's why the only solution is 

his voluntary relinquishment of all rights, for fair financial compensation, to the Commonwealth so that the flag is 

owned by the Commonwealth on behalf of Aboriginal people and its uses are set out in legislation so that we can 

avoid any situation where our flag is used for commercial profit by non-Aboriginal people. 



Thursday, 24 September 2020 Senate Page 5 

 

ABORIGINAL FLAG SELECT COMMITTEE 

Senator DODSON:  Would it follow that WAM would also have to be compensated because of the nature of 

the contract that Mr Thomas has with it? 

Dr Langton:  Correct. That's the problem, I think. I don't know how the negotiations are proceeding or what's 

on the table. I have no clue. Yes, that's right. All parties with rights to the flag would need to be at the table and 

all parties would need to be compensated. The flag must have, because of its commercial use, a commercial value 

that can be estimated by a valuer. I have recommended that there be a publication about the history of the flag, 

and one of the matters that the Australian public and Aboriginal people in particular would want to know is, 

should the Commonwealth be successful in these negotiations, whether or not those with commercial licences—

WAM and so on—had settled on a fair settlement based on a rigorous valuation of its commercial value. We 

would certainly not want a situation where these people with licences who are already tainting the flag and 

creating the scandal around its use would benefit out of proportion to the actual value of the flag. 

Senator DODSON:  My last question, Dr Langton, goes to a somewhat different area. It's something that you 

are possibly aware of: a concept of First Nations public domain. Have you come across that concept anywhere in 

your field of work? 

Dr Langton:  Yes. 

Senator DODSON:  Could you give us a brief explanation of what's intended by it or what it means? 

Dr Langton:  I'm not a lawyer and I'm not the kind of scholar that's investigated this issue closely, but I'll give 

you my simple, subjective view of what I think it means. What I've done in the past is refer to the concept of 

ancient Aboriginal jurisdictions. By that I mean the very obvious fact that there are Aboriginal societies across 

Australia whose origins lie in precolonial times, when they had a full body of laws and customs under which they 

lived. In post-colonial times, those laws and customs have survived fully or partially, and people continue to live 

under those laws and customs, even though they are now parallel or plural jurisdictions that sit alongside the 

Australian legal system and jurisdiction. We actually live in a pluralistic society, and the First Nations public 

domain is, I believe, a North American term for the concept that I'm referring to. Unfortunately, in few respects 

are our ancient legal systems and customs recognised. Certainly native title is partially recognised, and a few 

other Aboriginal customary laws, rights, obligations and customs are recognised, but they're not fully recognised 

in Australia. 

Does it have relevance for the flag issue? Yes, it does. I think it's the underpinning cultural issue. All 

Aboriginal people have an interest in the flag, and that is what I think you mean by raising the First Nations 

public domain issue. All Aboriginal people have an interest in the flag because it is our symbol. 

CHAIR:  Professor Langton, in the few minutes that we have left I want to check on a couple of questions 

with you in relation to previous evidence we've received. One is from the Central Land Council and APO NT in 

relation to inviting the committee to recommend that the Commonwealth government assume control of the 

Aboriginal flag under a newly established entity such as an Aboriginal flag commission or council. Would that be 

pretty much where you're suggesting we go as well? 

Dr Langton:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  That was obviously in relation to their read on Terri Janke's reports, both in 1999 and 2009. So that's 

really helpful. 

Dr Langton:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  Also, Tandanya gave us evidence about the possibility of Aboriginal community organisations such 

as Tandanya—and I'm sure Senator Thorpe has other organisations that have proposed it to her—being 

responsible for it, as opposed to a newly established authority. What's your view on that? 

Dr Langton:  That would be too complicated. It would result in too many problems. I think the task of writing 

the legislation for the flag is enormous and difficult, and I think you'll have to have another inquiry or a 

commission to consult with Aboriginal people and all Australians on the legislation. I think it's a very difficult 

problem. I haven't had time, I'm sorry, to think about what would be in that legislation, because there's so much to 

consider. 

CHAIR:  In terms of the negotiations between the minister and Mr Thomas at the moment, you did say that 

there should be a total and voluntary relinquishing of his rights and that if it were not voluntary that's when there 

would be great opposition to any compulsory acquisition. 

Dr Langton:  Yes. And then I think our only alternative would be to have a competition for another flag 

design. As to Tandanya's submission, I recognise that people want to have a say in the use of the flag locally, and 
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that could be accommodated in the legislation. But there's so much to consider. It's not a question I can answer 

easily right now. 

CHAIR:  No, neither can we! It's been very good to hear your thoughts this morning. That really assists us 

greatly as we try to navigate a way forward here. Thank you, Professor, for your time with us this morning. 

Dr Langton:  Thanks very much. 

Proceedings suspended from 10:45 to 11:00 
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ROY, Mr Rob, Coordinator, Traditional Owner and Community Liaison, Gurindji Aboriginal 

Corporation 

SMITH, Mr Phil, Chief Executive Officer, Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation 

SMILER, Ms Rosie, Director, Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation 

THOMPSON, Ms Quitaysha, Private capacity 

CHAIR:  It being 11 am, I welcome representatives from the Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation. Thank you for 

taking the time to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary privilege has been provided to you and is 

available from the secretariat. The committee has received your submission as submission No. 20. If you wish to 

make any amendments or corrections to it, please alert the committee. If you do have a brief opening statement, 

you are welcome to provide that statement to the committee before I invite questions of the senators. Do you have 

any comments to make on the capacity in which you appear? I'll hand over to you, double-R. 

Mr Roy:  I'm the corporation coordinator and a cultural advisor. Thank you [inaudible]. 

Ms Thompson:  I'm representing myself, but I'm coming from Kalkaringi, and I'm the manager for the child 

and family program at Kalkaringi. It's a newly funded program. Thank you for giving us the opportunity to be a 

part of this meeting. 

Mr P Smith:  I've had the privilege to work with the mob to start the Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation over the 

last eight or so years. Thanks for having me here. I'm looking forward to making some comments. 

CHAIR:  Would you like to make an opening statement from the Gurindji to the committee? 

Mr Roy:  I just— 

CHAIR:  Sorry, Double-R. I'll ask you to sit where Phil Smith is. We can't seem to hear you when you speak. 

Mr Roy:  I want to start with how we started off the Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation eight years ago. We've 

decided that, with local decision-making, we need to have something like a corporation to benefit the people and 

benefit the community. As you know, Senator McCarthy, part of the Gurindji corporation is running a festival 

every year. Next year will be the big 55th anniversary, and that's what we're all about. We're all about telling 

stories from the past but also conserving our culture, getting our culture out there and sharing our knowledge with 

other Indigenous people right across Australia. We're a very, very, very big fan of flying the Aboriginal flag every 

festival time. It's important that we're here, and thank you for inviting us. We'll all sit down. All the great minds 

work the same, so hopefully we'll achieve something out of this. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Roy. I'll go to Senator Thorpe for questions. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Gurindji mob, for participating today. I'm interested in your views on how 

Aboriginal people can maintain control over the use of the flag whilst also making sure that Mr Thomas's rights as 

an artist are protected. 

Mr Roy:  I've only just been told about what's gone on with the Aboriginal flag. I believe Mr Thomas is the 

one who designed the flag? Yes. So, by all means, if it's his right, his proper right, well, I guess he's probably got 

the last say in whatever it is, I think. But I would like to say maybe, on behalf of the Gurindji people, that we 

should be proud as Indigenous people, the First Nations of this country, and we should be proud of carrying that 

[Indigenous language not transcribed] where we are, whether it is inside us or we just show it out there to 

everybody. To help us celebrate with any sort of festival or anything that takes place in Australia, then we should 

be flying it out there with such pride, you know? 

Senator THORPE:  Has the Gurindji Corporation or community been adversely affected by using the flag? 

Have you been told that you can't use the flag at all, by any of the licensees? 

CHAIR:  Just checking—Mr Smith, are you still with us? It looks like we may have lost connection. 

Mr P Smith:  We're back. Sorry about that. Are you back? 

CHAIR:  Yes, we're here. There you are. That's good. 

Mr P Smith:  Sorry about that. It won't cut out again. Don't worry. That was just a little minor technicality! 

Mr Roy:  It really is what I spoke, before we got cut off. I'll get maybe Phil Smith, who is the CEO, who can 

explain that better, if that's all right, Senator Thorpe? 

Senator THORPE:  Yes. 

Mr P Smith:  Thanks for having me even sit in this room—well, I work for the Aboriginal corporation. 

'Adversely affected'? I wouldn't say now, but it's a concern, I guess, to do the right thing going forward. So the 
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first thing is Mr Thomas's rights, and all the mob here say that they have to be completely respected. But, as to the 

flag itself and how we use it in our business and our festival, we're a not for profit, so there's no commercial gain 

from our festival, apart from local employment and the economic outcomes that come through our Gurindji 

enterprises attached to it. We run the festival every year, and I'm the festival director as well [inaudible], but my 

bosses are Vincent Lingiari's family—the directors. A large proportion of the directors are Vincent's family. 

Sadly, they can't actually [inaudible]. They might come in soon, but they're working as teachers and all sorts. 

We do fly that flag in a lot of ways. So we use the big flag and small flags at ceremonies. The whole town's 

painted with the Aboriginal flag. I mean, look—I could just show you this shirt. Example A, here, is some 

Freedom Day Festival merchandise, from last year, which helps fund the festival itself. So I guess we do use it in 

those designs. 

We are now readying the planning for next year's big 55th anniversary, which, coincidentally, as I understand 

it, ties in very closely with the 50th anniversary of the flag design! If I'm wrong then maybe July next year, 2021, 

might be the anniversary of that, which is incredible. And literally 20 or 30 days later, we've got the [inaudible] 

anniversary of the birth of Aboriginal land rights. I guess the flag and the story here are completely entwined, and 

I guess there are concerns as we now do our designs for the festival or as to flying the flag at the festival. We need 

to know where we stand with that, and it's a bit of a risk management thing, now, for us to consider. There are 

fees and charges or whatever we need to consider that does impact on our planning now, because this event is 

quite a monster. Next year is going to be particularly big. I guess that's where we'd like to, yes, respectfully just 

ask those questions and let the committee do its thing. Are we in breach right now, for example? That's a bit of a 

risk for us if we're using that flag. The main thing is now is a good time to have the conversation. We hope that 

the Australian [inaudible] celebrate that and use the flag. 

Senator MARIELLE SMITH:  Just on the T-shirt that you showed us there, did you have to seek permission 

to have the Aboriginal flag on that shirt? 

Mr P Smith:  To be totally honest, we didn't seek permission for that one. I'll put that on the record now. We 

were quite unaware of the actual issue until very recently. We're being totally honest with you there. We haven't 

sought permission for the copyright and may be in breach of that right now. I'm happy to put that out to the 

public. I guess we are right now, aren't we? 

CHAIR:  Yes. You're very public right now! 

Mr P Smith:  We are very public right now. The feeling of the Gurindji people is that that is part of their story. 

It's a bit of a unique situation we're in that way. For many, many years before my time this flag has been flown in 

Gurindji country and I guess that became part of the design. The schoolkids design these shirts, by the way. We 

get schoolkids to do that every year, and every single design has the Aboriginal flag on it. 

Senator THORPE:  What is your view on the Aboriginal flag being owned by the government? And, as a flip 

side to that, what is your view on the Aboriginal flag being owned by community control? 

Mr Roy:  I'm totally confused, to be honest. I didn't realise it was owned by the government. I don't know what 

that means. It's just confusing. I don't have the answer to that. 

Mr P Smith:  As I understand the copyright, the artist and various parties, WAM Clothing and others, have the 

rights dictating use through negotiations. 

Senator THORPE:  Currently Harold Thomas owns the copyright, and he licences it to three non-Aboriginal 

businesses. So there are negotiations going on right now with the government. I'm particularly interested in asking 

witnesses what their preference is. Whatever the negotiations are, I'm just trying to seek out where particularly 

Aboriginal community organisations and corporations sit and what outcome they would like to see. One of those 

options is that government acquires the rights to the flag and then it becomes government owned, if you like. Or 

should it be Aboriginal community owned? 

Mr P Smith:  Copyright is with the artist. It needs to be respected. I believe the government is considering 

potentially making a deal so that government can have ownership. I assume then—correct me if I am wrong, 

Senator—that maybe organisations such as ours would not have the problem of having actually not paid for that 

licence. 

Mr Roy:  I've got a question. If all the steps and procedures we take as an Indigenous corporation to fly these 

flags in our festivals—you know, when we celebrate the Wave Hill walk-off—because we're an Indigenous 

corporation, do they charge people, or do they only do that for a non-Indigenous organisation? 

Mr P Smith:  We could be liable for a licence fee, as we understand it. Would that be correct? 



Thursday, 24 September 2020 Senate Page 9 

 

ABORIGINAL FLAG SELECT COMMITTEE 

Senator THORPE:  There are different rules for different parts of the flag. There are rules for flying the flag, 

which apparently is free to do. But if you put it on T-shirts or anything else then there are other rules for that, and 

the people who own the licence are asking anyone to pay for the use of the Aboriginal flag on any kind of 

merchandise. That's why we're having this inquiry, to see what people's views are on what should happen with the 

flag. 

Mr P Smith:  This is Rosie Smiler, Malarndirri—Madam Chair. 

CHAIR:  Good to see you, Rosie. Lovely to have you on. Just for the benefit of yourself and the senators: 

Rosie Smiler is Vincent Lingiari's granddaughter and also works there at the school. So it's lovely to have you, Ms 

Smiler. Over to you, Senator Thorpe. 

Senator THORPE:  I suppose I'll just reiterate that question—that is, your thoughts on whether the Aboriginal 

flag should be owned by the Australian government or the other option, which is that it is owned by the 

Aboriginal people. We're not sure what that looks like. There've been discussions throughout this inquiry that an 

independent body could be set up, or some kind of commission, or an Aboriginal community controlled 

organisation. I suppose I just want to get your view on whether you're happy for the Australian government to 

take ownership—and that could be copyright, that could be the licensing fees—or whether you think it should 

stay with Aboriginal people through whatever mechanism that might be. 

Mr P Smith:  What we're saying is that Ngumpin, being Aboriginal people, should be able to fly that flag any 

time they like, in any situation. Letitia, would you agree with that? 

Ms Thompson:  Yes. Like Phil mentioned before, it's a thing at our school that these children design all the 

shirts. They design all the corporation's shirts, they design the clinic's shirts—things like that. And they've always, 

for many, many years, put the flag on the shirt. It's a sense of ownership. They feel like: 'We own this. We can do 

it and we want to be proud of it.' They do it so freely. It's just the norm around here in this community. 

Mr P Smith:  And many others. 

Ms Thompson:  Yes, and many other communities. 

Mr P Smith:  If you don't mind me saying—this is just my view, guys—my point from a business side of 

things is just not to have that barrier at all. Maybe an analogy, what comes to mind here, is that we get inquiries 

through many people to use the amazing image of Vincent—Rosie's grandfather—and Gough Whitlam. That 

photo is Merv Bishop's photo. I'm not completely sure of the interests in the copyright there, but I assume Merv 

originally would have had the copyright. I believe—and I might be wrong—that the Australian government 

actually owns the rights to that image. We get contacted, out of the respect, for books or for—anything—maybe 

20 times a year. The email comes through to myself or to RR here, and people ask for that image. I believe—and I 

might be wrong; sorry if I am—that is owned by the Australian government and therefore that image is used and 

available to people, and it's so powerful just the way it is. It's spun off an analogy there that we do deal with. 

Perhaps in that way, in my opinion, to have that as an organisation when you want to use something so powerful, 

it taints it, I think, if you have to go through loops and hoops. It's the spirit of [inaudible] I guess if the Australian 

government owned it, in my view, and we gave rights to all Australians, black and white, that would be an 

absolute win for [inaudible] Have we asked who owns the Australian flag design? 

Senator THORPE:  I understand that was a competition way back when, and it's owned by the Australian 

government and it's free to use, so people all over the world can reproduce it and it's free for all, basically. 

Currently with the Aboriginal flag, we've heard from witnesses that, if you put the Aboriginal flag on a T-shirt or 

on bedding or anywhere else besides flying the flag then you will be charged for doing so. You will have to pay, I 

think, 20 per cent extra to do that, and that money goes to a non-Aboriginal business. I think a portion of that goes 

back to the copyright holder, Mr Thomas. That's why we're in this predicament today. The next time you 

potentially do another T-shirt or the kids design a T-shirt with a flag on it, which we're all proud of, then you 

could be sent a bill for doing that or a letter to say that you can't do that, which we've heard a number of witnesses 

say to us over this time— 

Mr P Smith:  We may get one of those letters—I'd have to be in public showing you a T-shirt right now. 

CHAIR:  You possibly may, and, if you do, you are very welcome to let this inquiry know about it. Thank 

you, Senator Thorpe. I understand Senator Bragg has some questions. 

Senator BRAGG:  Thank you very much for your time today. Effectively, my questions have just been asked. 

I think I have a good sense of your position. Thank you very much for providing your time, but I won't ask you 

questions you've already been asked. 
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CHAIR:  Okay. Firstly, Ms Smiler, I think it's important if you can share with the committee something about 

your grandfather and the significance of his story, especially given that you're going to celebrate 55 years next 

year, and the Aboriginal flag will also be celebrating its 50th anniversary. So you've almost been walking together 

on this. 

Ms Smiler:  For me, I'm really proud of him for what my grandfather did, and for the Aboriginal flag as well. 

We are going to carry it with us, and we've got the people. It's for us, for Aboriginal people, right across 

Australia. 

CHAIR:  What about the story around why you're going to celebrate the 55th anniversary? Do you want to tell 

us a little bit more about Wave Hill and the importance of it and the walk off for the Gurindji. 

Ms Smiler:  The way it was before, they were living in bad conditions. That's why they had to walk away from 

the station. They didn't get enough food and money. They used to be like slaves. That's why they walked of the 

station. My grandfather made the move; he walked off the station. 

CHAIR:  So next year is a pretty big year, festival wise. 

Ms Smiler:  Yes. I can't wait to celebrate the Freedom Day Festival—with my family and everybody right 

across Australia. And we want to invite you as well next year. 

CHAIR:  I'd love to come. I'm sure the senators on this committee would all love to come as well. There'll be a 

line-up! I will now go back to RR and Phil about the T-shirts. Following on from Senator Thorpe's questions: 

you've obviously got the flag on your shirts and you have proactively sought to find out what this might mean for 

you. At the moment, the minister is trying to negotiate a way forward with Mr Thomas. But we've been listening 

to a lot of evidence where people are saying they are concerned that this could possibly be the end of this flag and 

maybe we should look at another flag. This is evidence that has come before the committee. What are your 

thoughts on that? 

Mr Roy:  I really want to know what is going through Thomas's mind. He designed the flag and a lot of 

Indigenous communities fly it with pride. It's the Indigenous flag. It represents the land, the sun and the sky. I 

would like to see the flag under the ownership of some sort of Indigenous organisation, where we don't have to go 

through a lot of processes to try and use the flag. 

CHAIR:  I think that you come under the Central Land Council in that region. The Central Land Council's 

submission to us has been about having a separate body that looks after the flag—a bit of a custodian, I guess. Is 

that what you mean when you talk about that? 

Mr P Smith:  Yes.  

Mr Roy:  Yes. I'm currently leaning towards that, if there is going to be some sort of set up, with the CLC. 

Yes, definitely that. 

Mr P Smith:  The National Land Council is probably [inaudible]. 

CHAIR:  Yes. They were talking about a national body like a flag commission. We also heard from the 

Tandanya Arts Centre in Adelaide, who proposed that it could be Aboriginal organisations. That may also be an 

issue. It is good to get your thoughts. This is your opportunity, as Gurindji, to publicly give us your thoughts on 

what you think should happen with the flag. Do you have any more thoughts or words on that before we finish 

up? 

Mr Roy:  We shouldn't change it. We should have all Indigenous delegates on the organisational council that 

the flag will sit under so we can speak on behalf of the Territory, WA, Queensland et cetera. This could be the 

first meeting and talks we're having with the Aboriginal flag. What happened to the Torres Strait flag? Are we 

going to go through the same process regarding whether someone might stand up with their copyright and do the 

same procedure that Ms Johnson is going through? 

Yes [inaudible] across the nation I reckon. If there's some sort of delegation for an organisation, if the CLC are 

willing to start up, I reckon it should be fair to have a mixture of Indigenous right across the board. 

CHAIR:  The CLC put in a submission for a national body. That was their suggestion in their evidence. We as 

a committee are listening to all parties who put forward ideas and suggestions. We thank you all for your time. I 

see little Jacob there at the back. I don't know if he wants to say a word to all the senators. Thank you all for your 

time. 

Mr P Smith:  Thank you. 

Mr Roy:  Thank you. 
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COLEMAN, Ms Claire, Private capacity 

GOODA, Mr Mick, Private capacity 

MUNDINE, Mr Nyunggai Warren, AM, Private capacity 

Evidence was taken via teleconference—  

[11:30] 

CHAIR:  I welcome Ms Claire Coleman and Mr Warren Mundine. Thank you for taking the time to give 

evidence today. We are also trying to see if we can connect with Mr Mick Gooda. Information about 

parliamentary privilege has been provided to each of you and is available from the secretariat. Ms Coleman, the 

committee has received your submission as submission No. 15. If you wish to make any amendments or 

corrections to it, please alert the committee. If you would like to make a brief opening statement, I invite you to 

do so before we go to questions. 

Ms Coleman:  I'm a Noongar writer, art critic and cultural adviser. I'm speaking to you from Melbourne. My 

interest in the flag is as someone who identifies strongly with the flag but who considers the intellectual property 

of Harold Thomas just as important, if not more important, as my own personal desires. I would like to 

acknowledge that I am living and working on the land of the Wurundjeri people of the Kulin nation. I thank their 

elders past, present and emerging. Thank you for this opportunity to address the committee. 

The Aboriginal flag [inaudible] rights and pride. I have recently heard the phrase 'pride not profit' from the 

keyboards and mouths of people asking for the government to compulsorily acquire [inaudible]. I wonder why 

those people don't possess enough pride in culture and the flag to respect the person, Harold Thomas, who gave us 

this symbol and why they insist that they have the right to profit off the flag [inaudible] should not. 

The hashtags [inaudible] symbol of oversimplifying the matter. They are catchy and contain no facts. They are 

intentionally misleading. The hashtag #freetheflag implies that the flag is not free to use, when it always has been, 

and suggests that it is somehow imprisoned or locked away. Their other slogan #pridenotprofit suggests, as I 

summarised before, that their intent for the flag is to use it without profit, which is an outright untruth. The intent 

of those who wish to exploit the flag without paying royalties is to profit while Harold Thomas, who created this 

flag, does not. 

The media have been misleading on the topic of the flag, suggesting that a white organisation owns the 

copyright when in fact it does not. The flag copyright belongs to Harold Thomas and has done since 1971 when it 

was created. The flag design, like any other design, logo, song, movie or work of art, is copyrighted. The 

copyright has existed under Australian law from the moment the work was created. 

The cultural importance of a work does not negate the copyright, nor should it. It is my opinion that the 

compulsory acquisition of the flag or any attempt by the government to take control of the licensing of the flag 

would be an act of colonisation, would be discrimination against an Aboriginal man and could set a dangerous 

precedent that would weaken copyright laws for everybody. 

Mr Mundine:  I've become a part of this discussion because of the importance of the Aboriginal flag to 

Aboriginal people. Since the early seventies, it's become a symbol for Aboriginal people across the country, no 

matter what background they come from, whether they're Bundjalung or Yolngu or whatever. It's become a very 

strong symbol for Aboriginal people. In fact, when you ask kids in preschools or kids in primary schools or high 

schools to draw a picture of Aboriginality, most of them will draw that flag. It's really become a heart and soul of 

the people. 

I'm a bit conflicted on this whole thing as well, because we have an Aboriginal man, Harold Thomas, who 

designed the background for the design of the flag, and so he has copyright. You can't deny him that copyright. So 

there's this idea that we just use the flag without acknowledging that. If he's looking for some sort of royalty or 

payment from that then I don't really have so much of a problem with it, because if I fly the flag and it has a 

royalty attached to it that goes back to him then I think that's only fair and proper for that to happen. The issue 

that has arisen recently, and has been around for a couple of years, is in regard to a private company that's been 

working with Mr Thomas in regard to this whole thing. It's sort of blown up a bit. What I was thinking, off the top 

of my head at that time, was, 'Maybe through this process the federal government should look purchasing that, 

through a proper discussion with Mr Thomas in regard to the whole thing.' 

But my thing is: how do we deal with something that's become such a symbol of people's Aboriginality across 

the nation—a really unifying, powerful symbol—at the same time as protecting the rights of the Indigenous 

person, Mr Harold Thomas, who designed it and made that flag? We shouldn't be taking away his rights. We can't 

do that. 
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CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Mundine. We're still waiting for Mr Mick Gooda to come online. I'll go to Senator 

Bragg for first questions. 

Senator BRAGG:  I might direct my questions to you, Mr Mundine. The current straw man on the table is that 

the Commonwealth would look to negotiate with Mr Thomas with a view to acquiring the rights and then, I 

expect, making the flag available for everyone to use in every context, with some parameters around governance 

so that it wouldn't be used improperly in any way. Do you want to give us a view on that straw man, if I can use 

that expression? 

Mr Mundine:  That's an idea that I put forward in regard to this. As I said earlier, I'm a bit confused in regard 

to this. The flag is so importance for Indigenous people—as I said earlier, you ask kids at schools and preschools 

about a symbol that represents Aboriginality and they always draw that flag. It's been so much a part of our DNA, 

in the last 40 or even 50 years. But at the same time I'm very conscious that this is an Aboriginal person who's 

designed the flag. It's his copyright, and he has a right to be compensated for that. If we look at the Australian 

flag, there was a competition going in 1901. I think the person was paid—and I stand to be corrected on this—

something like 120 pounds for that. It was a competition, so they knew what they were in for. This is a different 

situation: Mr Thomas saw that all these other nations had a flag and yet we didn't have something prior to this 

which would unify us in our stand as Aboriginal people, and it went from there. I'm probably just as guilty as 

anyone else in regard to this, because I've used the flag at demonstrations over the years. I've purchased flags 

from different organisations and that. In fact, I've got a flag at home, in my lounge room. 

So I think the challenge for the Senate hearing is how you ensure that the rights of an Aboriginal person are 

protected at the same time as dealing with this emotional, strong connection that Aboriginal people have in 

identifying with it. 

Senator BRAGG:  There have been suggestions put to the committee that if the Commonwealth government 

can't successfully land negotiations on this question then an Indigenous community, or parts of it, might look to 

put together a different flag or have an alternative flag. I'm interested in your thoughts on that. 

Mr Mundine:  Anyone can do that anyway, and there have been some First Nations people who have done 

that to represent their own distinct First Nation within the Aboriginal nations. But they can do that today and they 

can do that tomorrow. The issue here is really about this flag, which represented so much for Aboriginal and 

Indigenous people and First Nations across Australia. For me, it's the emotion—Cathy Freeman carrying it at the 

Commonwealth Games in Victoria, in Canada, and then at the Olympic Games in 2000, when she got up and ran 

around that stadium with that flag. Tears were running out of my eyes. The whole nation got behind it, not just 

Indigenous people. It means so much to us. It's in our DNA now. Tears were running out of my eyes. And if you 

looked at her in the Olympic Games in 2000, everyone—the whole nation—got around her, not just Indigenous 

people. It meant so much to us; it's in our DNA now. It's also carried many non-Indigenous people along with us 

in that struggle. So it's become so very strong and symbolic. It's about DNA for us. 

People can come up with another design and do things, but I think we're so wedded to that flag. As I said, it's in 

our DNA now. It's really strong and powerful; no matter how old you are, whether you're a two- or three-year-old 

kid or right up to an old bugger like me, people are so attached to that flag. But, at the same time—and I'm 

probably not helping you here—there is a conflict. We don't want to see an Aboriginal person have their rights 

taken away in regard to that flag. So how do we work through this process? That's the big struggle. 

CHAIR:  Before I go to the next senator for questions, I'd like to welcome Mr Mick Gooda to the inquiry. Mr 

Gooda, would you like to make an opening statement before I got to Senator Dodson for questions? 

Mr Gooda:  Thank you, Senator. I'm up in Bamaga, at the northern peninsula area of Queensland, with five 

communities—two Torres Strait communities and three Aboriginal communities. Greetings, senators, from North 

Queensland. I told people I was coming to this meeting, and all the councils wish you well in your deliberations. 

I just came in on the end of Warren's contribution. I've taken a bit of a different view on this. I understand and 

support Mr Thomas's right to benefit from his intellectual knowledge and his contribution. But I've taken a 

different view. I've decided that, while he has a right to do that, I've got a right not to buy and contribute to some 

white bloke who is going to benefit from our flag. I've sort of abandoned the flag now. I belong to the Gangalu 

people in Central Queensland, and we're starting to develop our own flag. I understand what Warren was 

saying—it's iconic, it's a symbol of where we are—but I just take a personal view that I'm paying a ransom, 

paying people for that right. What I've done is work out the balance between the right for Mr Thomas to benefit 

from that against my right to make a choice, and that's the choice I've made. That's probably all I want to say. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Gooda. It's certainly important to hear your thoughts on this. I will go to Senator 

Dodson next for questions. 
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Senator DODSON:  I'm sorry, I missed some of Mr Mundine's contribution. 

CHAIR:  Senator Dodson and Mr Gooda, we also have Claire Coleman on this panel. You've both been unable 

to hear from Ms Coleman, but Ms Coleman will also be answering questions for senators. Over to you, Senator 

Dodson. 

Senator DODSON:  Has Ms Coleman made a contribution or not, as yet? 

CHAIR:  Yes, Ms Coleman has. 

Senator DODSON:  I missed that; I apologise. My questions may be a bit limited. I want to follow up on what 

Mr Gooda was raising, but from a different perspective, I suppose. Short of Mr Thomas voluntarily surrendering 

his rights to the Commonwealth or varying the conditions of his contract with these vendors, there seem to be just 

two options left. One is to take up the Mick Gooda option—to no longer support the flag that Mr Thomas 

designed and be part of a redesign of an Aboriginal flag. The other option is to look at whether the 

Commonwealth still has a role, because of the huge First Nations interest and investment in the flag over many 

years, and therefore the Commonwealth may acquire the rights of the commercial aspects in this case and work 

out with Mr Thomas an arrangement for who may administer the flag in the future. I wonder if either of you 

gentlemen, or maybe Ms Coleman, would like to comment on that? 

CHAIR:  I might go to Mr Gooda first, and then to Ms Coleman and then to Mr Mundine. Mr Gooda? 

Mr Gooda:  Senator Dodson actually lays out really what's in front of us here. When I think about the 

Aboriginal flag, it's a thing that unites us. It's one thing that unites us. It is symbolic. Senator Dodson, you will 

remember when we were on the expert panel and people used to say, 'Constitutional change will just be symbolic.' 

My argument with that is: symbols are really important. And this symbol is really important. 

I was around in ATSIC when the arrangement was made with Mr Thomas and ATSIC about the use of the flag. 

A significant amount of money changed hands at that time. The problem we had was: when the abolition of 

ATSIC came, the assets of ATSIC were distributed throughout the Commonwealth. There was a significant art 

collection of ATSIC's that went to the National Museum. The land holdings went to the Indigenous Land 

Corporation. But Mr Thomas had put a condition on his arrangement with ATSIC—that the government could 

never hold the rights to the flag. I think that's appropriate, too. 

So we're stuck with this thing: if the government is going to head down the track of acquiring the rights, who 

actually acquires the rights to the flag? Part of me says, 'Well, someone's got to acquire them if I'm going to use it 

again'—as it stands now, I'm not going to use the flag again. Who actually acquires the rights of the flag, and 

should it be government? I was around when Bill Hayden, as Governor-General, signed the instrument that made 

both the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander flags official flags of Australia. We've got to consider what that 

means as well: what does it mean, with the flag being considered an official flag of Australia? I just worry, 

Senator Dodson, if we go down the track of coming to an arrangement with Mr Thomas, about who would 

actually hold the rights of the flag. I'm not sure whether that should be government. It's probably the only thing I 

agree with Mr Thomas on—that government should never hold the rights of the flag. I will leave it there and let 

Claire contribute. 

Ms Coleman:  Thank you for the question, Senator Dodson. For me, the most important point to make right 

from the beginning is that the government should never forcibly acquire the flag. That would be an act of 

discrimination and a colonial act, and would certainly go against Harold Thomas's wishes—recalling that when he 

asserted his copyright of the flag it was in fact to keep control of the flag out of government hands. He was 

interviewed at the time he asserted his copyright, and he said he did not want the Aboriginal flag to be a flag of 

Australia. To me, that's an important point. If he does not want the flag to be a flag of Australia, he certainly 

shouldn't be forced to lose his copyright because the flag was used in a way he never intended. He intended it as a 

flag of protest and of Aboriginal rights. 

The only solution in my mind to making the flag available would be for the government to acquire the flag 

through agreement with Mr Thomas, paying him whatever compensation he requires, and then put the flag in the 

hands of an elected Aboriginal identity—which we don't currently have, so we'd need an elected Aboriginal 

identity as well—to manage. Certainly the government acquiring the flag for itself would not be acceptable, and 

neither would laws to make the flag available to everybody; that would open up the flag copyright to abuse. 

Mr Mundine:  Senator Dodson, I think you've hit the nail on the head with your two points. To be clear, I 

agree 100 per cent with [inaudible]. It is about Aboriginal land rights, and it's really about us as people. We've got 

this dilemma to work through, and some very hard decisions need to be made in regard to it. I also agree that the 

idea that I put up, that the government should purchase the flag, raises a whole lot of other issues as well. 

Fortunately, hopefully in the future, when we get around to having a voice to the parliament, it will be abiding 
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that [inaudible] representing Indigenous people, and maybe have agreement with Mr Thomas and agreement 

across the board that we can hold that [inaudible] symbol. Mick is right; a lot of people get into fights over 

symbols, because it is so emotional and there is so much of it going to their heart. So I suppose it is about how we 

can get through this process. I find it very hard. Do people come together and make another flag, or do we come 

to some arrangement with Mr Thomas? They are the two things; that's really hitting the nail on the head. 

Before I finish, I notice that Senator Thorpe is here. Senator Thorpe, I congratulate you on being selected to 

represent Victoria in the federal parliament. I hope you have a long and enjoyable term. 

Senator DODSON:  Can I ask another question of you all. The rights that WAM and GiftsMate hold are rights 

under contract that Mr Thomas has entered into with them. None of us, I presume, have seen those contracts; if 

you have, it would be very useful to know. Can I clear that up first: has anyone seen these contracts? 

Mr Mundine:  No, I haven't. 

Ms Coleman:  I haven't. 

Senator DODSON:  Those entities, GiftsMate and WAM, will have to be compensated in some way by either 

Mr Thomas or the Commonwealth, whether the Commonwealth acquires Mr Thomas's rights or whether there is 

an amicable agreement, because they're a party to the negotiations. How would you feel about the entity that has 

caused all this strife becoming a beneficiary of public money? 

Mr Mundine:  To be quite honest, I don't like that this commercial entity is making money. This is the 

Aboriginal flag. This is about our emotions and who we are. So I don't like the idea of that, but I don't know how 

to get around the legalities of it. 

Mr Gooda:  Senator Dodson, I haven't seen the arrangements but I've seen some of the results of those 

arrangements. I can talk—I've asked permission to do this—about the Quandamooka people on Stradbroke Island. 

They got a letter because they put the Aboriginal flag on their ranger uniform, and they just went and tore the flag 

off; they're going to replace it with a Quandamooka symbol. So I've seen the results of it, and, I've got to say, it's 

not pleasant. As a result of some non-Aboriginal person benefiting—I just won't wear that. Even if there is an 

arrangement, I still wouldn't use the Aboriginal flag if that was the case. As most people know, I'm probably 

pragmatic about things and I want to get things through. But there is a certain limit to that pragmatism for me, and 

this is one of those occasions. I wouldn't even consider using it if some non-Indigenous entity benefited from it—

having to buy out that contract or whatever. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, everyone, for your participation today. It's good to see some familiar faces. 

I'm going to direct my first question to Ms Coleman. In your submission you state that, due to how Mr 

Namatjira's property was treated by the government, there are issues of trust over a government compulsorily 

acquiring the property of an Aboriginal man. I'm interested in your views and the views of the panel. If, 

hypothetically, the ownership of the licences, particularly, were acquired by the government, how do you think 

Aboriginal communities would respond to this outcome? 

Ms Coleman:  Thank you for your question, Senator Thorpe, and congratulations on your appointment to the 

Senate. I think it depends [inaudible] flag, [inaudible] depends greatly on [inaudible] they are with the history of 

Aboriginal art in Australia—certainly the issues around the Albert Namatjira copyrights and the government 

misuse and abuse of those and the suffering of his family for six generations from the loss of their income from 

that. [Inaudible] some of the people I've spoken with, those communities in Central Australia, they do mistrust the 

government to handle copyright fairly. There are people who have told me that there's a concern that if the 

government is negotiating with Harold Thomas then the government may try and railroad through a negotiation 

that is considered unfair. There's also concern that the government, if they acquire the copyright, would exploit it 

in ways that Aboriginal people would not accept, because there is a certain amount of mistrust of government use 

of copyrights. 

I'd like to point out that, although some of us are working Aboriginal artistic practitioners—I earn all my 

money, in fact, from writing—we'd be concerned also about the fact that the government is considering 

responding to this because of complaints about WAM Clothing being a white-owned organisation. Well, my 

publisher is also a white-owned organisation, and I don't think that who owns the copyright, or who owns the 

reproduction rights, should have anything to do with how this is handled. 

Senator THORPE:  Mr Mundine or Mr Gooda, do you want to respond? 

Mr Mundine:  Yes. It is a dilemma. I'm a great believer that copyright should be [inaudible] Mr Thomas. I 

know from [inaudible] on a committee [inaudible] been through that and have a similar line. They're very angry in 
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regard to getting a letter from a commercial organisation who tells them how to use that flag and what to do with 

it. So there is a lot of anger out there in regard to this whole thing. A lot of people feel like just saying: 'Well, just 

bugger off!' But, for me, I'm very wedded to that flag, emotionally and personally, and so I would like to see us 

have some way of working through and ensuring that we can continue using the flag and working with that and 

we can [inaudible] Thomas [inaudible] happened. But it has to have some mutual agreement. You're right, 

Claire—I don't like the idea of the government having his intellectual rights and his property rights. It's really 

about Aboriginal people. It's Aboriginal people, and [inaudible] Mr Thomas, of course; it's his copyright 

[inaudible] that. It's about how we use it. We shouldn't be trusting the government in regard to [inaudible], and 

this is just one of them. So I have concerns about that and I also have, through the [inaudible] an arrangement, 

because I haven't seen [inaudible] localities that it's going to be thrust upon, how we move forward in this 

discussion. 

Senator THORPE:  Mr Gooda? 

Mr Gooda:  Again, Senator Thorpe, it was remiss of me not to congratulate you on your appointment to your 

position as senator. Congratulations. It's really good to see our mob getting numbers in both houses of parliament. 

I go back to the first part of your question about government acquiring it. You think about the human rights 

approach—the right of our mob to give or not give their consent to anything, particularly acquiring something. I'll 

say straight up that nothing should happen without the consent of Mr Thomas. There shouldn't be any coercion 

about that. I take that into account in my position. I don't want to put any pressure on Mr Thomas. He's made an 

arrangement. I don't agree with that arrangement, so I've just decided I won't use it. First of all, I would be against 

government compulsorily acquiring anything in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander space without the 

consent of the people concerned. As for acquiring it, I go back to my original comments. I still believe, if 

government is part of this, someone or some entity has got to actually take ownership of this arrangement; it 

shouldn't be government. We should be looking around for an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community 

controlled type of body who would actually assume ownership of whatever the arrangements are. That's my 

position. Once consent is acquired, government can certainly be part of negotiation, but at the end of the day it 

should be that the ownership of that arrangement, in whatever form it takes, should be with an Aboriginal or 

Torres Strait Islander organisation. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Mr Gooda. I just have one final question. In fact, Mr Gooda, you answered 

my second question, so I might put this to Ms Coleman and Mr Mundine. We do have a number of peak 

Aboriginal community controlled organisations. I'm interested in your views about whether they could play a part, 

even if it's in the interim while an independent body is set up. We have heard from other witnesses as well that 

this could be a potential way forward. What are your views on that? 

Ms Coleman:  Thank you for the question. I don't believe that any organisation currently is set up to 

administer the flag copyright in the situation we're in right now. I think it would be necessary for a new 

representative body to exist just to manage the flag, unless there were actually the constitutional arrangements 

suggested in the Uluru statement, which would give us an administrative body which could in fact administer the 

flag. Failing that, it would have to be a special flag body or flag committee in order for it to be able to do the job 

properly. 

Mr Mundine:  That could be an option, yes. It could be an option with regard to moving forward, having a 

peak body. As you said, there are a number of Aboriginal peak bodies out there. But eventually you would want 

to have it as [inaudible] voice to parliament. You have this constitutional [inaudible]. Then that would eventually, 

I presume, [inaudible] at the end of the day. Of course, with the consent of Mr Thomas and, of course, with 

benefits for him moving forward, I do see that as an option we can use. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. No further questions from me, Chair. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. I'll go to Senator O'Sullivan. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  A lot of my questions have been answered. I just have a couple of questions 

clarifying some things that have been said to make sure I've understood correctly. Ms Coleman, in answer to an 

earlier question you said something like, 'Who owns the rights shouldn't have any bearing.' Can you just clarify 

what you said there and what you meant by that? 

Ms Coleman:  Certainly. It's been mentioned several times today and in the media that the company that 

[inaudible] WAM Clothing. And the particular dislike many Aboriginal people have for the owner of that 

company, Ben Wooster, is also commonly mentioned when people talk about the Free the Flag movement. In my 

opinion, who Harold Thomas chose to deal with is a choice for Harold Thomas and it shouldn't have any bearing 
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on how the government handles ideas of how the flag copyright should be managed. Who, in fact, is licensed to 

produce flag T-shirts is entirely irrelevant to this decision. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  So are you saying that what matters is really the end result, which is the free use of 

the flag by community, particularly Aboriginal people who want to use the flag, charities and those sorts of 

things? Is it more about what the use is, rather than the technical ownership of it? Is that what you mean? 

Ms Coleman:  It's more that people are using the ownership of the company, WAM Clothing, as a straw man 

argument for why they believe the flag copyright should be acquired by government, when, in reality, who 

currently has the right to produce Aboriginal flag T-shirts isn't relevant to the discussion. Since the early nineties, 

Harold Thomas has had deals with people to produce Aboriginal flag T-shirts. It's been with WAM Clothing now 

for a couple of years. Before that it was with a company called Goose T-shirts. So the company question is 

completely irrelevant. Actually, the only issue is really whether or not people believe the flag should be in the 

hands of Harold Thomas, who made those agreements. He has the right to make agreements with whoever he 

wants. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  I understand. Thank you. To you, Mr Mundine: you said you had concerns over 

government having control and ownership. Earlier today we heard from Professor Marcia Langton, who 

suggested that one way to resolve the current situation would be that the government acquire the copyright and 

vest it in a trust, which would have an Aboriginal board, presumably appointed by the Prime Minister or the 

Minister for Indigenous Australians, to be a sort of holding place for the owners and custodians of it. But it would 

also, importantly, be to establish protections around the use of the flag to ensure that it's never improperly used. 

Have you got some thoughts about that? Obviously, someone or something has to hold it. Do you have a view on 

how that could actually work? 

Mr Mundine:  Thank you, Senator O'Sullivan. I declare that Senator O'Sullivan and I have known each other 

for quite a while and we worked together many years ago. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  We did. 

Mr Mundine:  We have examples like Anzac. You can't just use the word 'Anzac'. It's protected through 

legislation, in law. You've got words like 'Donald Bradman' and they're protected by law in how they're used. The 

RSL forces [inaudible] we talk to in regard to the Anzac stuff, and we also look at the Bradman Foundation and 

how that operates. That type of approach could be one way of doing it. You could have that legislation. But that's 

only after, leading up to it, we have these proper conversations with Mr Thomas about how it operates. Then you 

could have the legislation and you could have such an Indigenous body set up to do that. You could do that. It's 

possible to do that, and we have track records in regard to doing that in a number of other areas where the nation 

has seen things to be that important, like the word 'Anzac' and how it's used and how Sir Donald Bradman's name 

is used as well. I'm not too sure if I like the idea of just the Prime Minister or some minister making these 

appointments. I think it would be nice to have that from Aboriginal people with regard to how that happens. So in 

answer to your question—it's a longwinded answer!—yes, there is a way of doing that. We have a track record as 

a nation of actually doing that through legislation and setting up particular bodies that ensure the protection and 

the proper use of that. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Okay. Thanks. 

CHAIR:  I might firstly go to you, Ms Coleman, in relation to some of the comments you've made and also to 

seek some clarification in terms of your submission. You said in your response earlier that it would be necessary 

for a new representative body to manage the flag and you spoke a little bit about a constitutional arrangement, as 

suggested in the Uluru statement. Do you care to expand a little bit more on that? 

Ms Coleman:  Certainly. Harold Thomas, in his original agreement with ATSIC, was only willing to do a deal 

with, as it specifically said in the contract, an Aboriginal elected body. There are two reasons why I think an 

Aboriginal elected body would be necessary. One is that, if Harold Thomas were doing a deal where the flag 

would be managed by an Aboriginal elected body, he'd be more likely to be amenable towards such a deal. And 

the other is that, if any Aboriginal person is refused the use of the flag copyright for the reason that it's considered 

inappropriate, if it's an Aboriginal elected body, then they would have less cause to say that the government is, in 

fact, stopping them from doing that. If it was a body appointed by the government, it would be the same thing as 

the government, in fact, controlling it, because the government has shown the people that the government is in 

control. 

CHAIR:  I'm just trying to understand. You raised the example of Albert Namatjira and family in terms of the 

trust issue between government. Would there be a trust issue, in your view, around having this kind of entity 

legislated by government to look after the flag? Would there be a trust issue there too? 
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Ms Coleman:  I think there would be. The government is improving its history of relationships with 

Aboriginal people, but after the government's 232 years of poor history with dealing with Aboriginal issues I 

think a lot of Aboriginal people would have a problem trusting a government with the management of the flag. I 

would personally have a problem trusting the government doing that because the government has never been able 

to be trusted to have the best interests of Aboriginal people at heart before. The example of Albert Namatjira is a 

good illustrative example because a public trustee disposed of his copyright for a pittance, a copyright that is now 

considered to be worth $10 million, or $8,000 in the 1980s, leaving his family in poverty for generations. It's also 

important to note that the other parallel to the story of Albert Namatjira is it's not just [inaudible] who has a claim 

to the copyright of the flag; it's whoever inherits his estate for 70 years after his death, because that's how long 

copyright lasts. So, any [inaudible] against is, in fact, an unfair deal and would not do the right thing by his estate 

either, and that would also be an issue of trust. 

CHAIR:  To clarify, if it's not a government entity or an independent commission legislated by government, in 

your view, should an Aboriginal organisation hold the custodianship, if you like, of the flag? 

Ms Coleman:  It would need to be an Aboriginal organisation, an elected body of some sort. An elected body 

of Aboriginal people, such as the Aboriginal advisory committee suggested by the Uluru statement, or even the 

NAIDOC Committee, who, I understand, are elected, but they might not be—some sort of a committee rather 

than a group of people appointed by government. 

CHAIR:  Following your thought process here, in relation to the Uluru statement, if the voice was legislated or 

in the Constitution, as requested by the original people behind the push for it, is that what you're saying could 

possibly be an area that the flag's custodianship could go to? 

Ms Coleman:  That would be the sort of body the flag's custodianship could safely go to, because the voice 

suggested by the Uluru statement would need to be elected by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. 

Therefore the flag's copyright would remain in Aboriginal hands, rather than being in the hands of a majority 

white government. We're going to have a majority white government indefinitely because we've got a small 

minority of [inaudible] population. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Coleman. I might go to you, Mr Gooda, just on a couple of points you've raised. 

Certainly a lot has been made of the agreement that was reached, between ATSIC and Mr Thomas, on the use of 

the flag. Can you inform the committee what that agreement was and how long it took to negotiate? 

Mr Gooda:  It took a fair while to negotiate. Let's just say they were robust parts of that negotiation that went 

on. The agreement was really about community use of the flag and the use of ATSIC and its successors. I think 

there were things built in around, like Claire said, it not ever being held by government. As I understood it, it was 

really around the non-commercial use, and ATSIC negotiated it on behalf of, mainly, the Aboriginal community 

use of the flag. That, as I understood it, went through and there was an exchange of some money. I wouldn't tell 

you if I knew but I can't remember how much money was involved, except that it was fairly significant. But with 

the abolition of ATSIC—like I said, there was no successor to ATSIC. 

CHAIR:  In your opinion, what were the implications for the agreement between ATSIC and Mr Thomas at 

the abolition of ATSIC? 

Mr Gooda:  I'm not a lawyer but I'd say it just became null and void. 

CHAIR:  Can you explain to the committee what your role was, at that time, when you were, I understand, 

CEO? 

Mr Gooda:  No, I was the, sort of, secretary to the board of commissioners. I worked with both the chair of 

ATSIC—Lowitja, and then Gatjil Djerrkura and then Geoff Clark—and then various CEOs, starting with our own 

Pat Turner. I think we can look back and say it was a great time for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, 

having a commission like that. From my recollection, the commissioners were very keen to make sure that Mr 

Thomas was looked after, but then the flag—this is the sort of thing that Senator Dodson laid out before. How do 

you have community use of the flag but also respect Mr Thomas for his intellectual property, his cultural 

knowledge and all that? The board were really keen on recognising all of that. It was a bit of a rocky road to 

negotiate through that. I looked at the records recently and it reminded me how tough it was. We eventually got to 

an arrangement though.  

To go back to your original question, my thing is, not being a lawyer, given what Mr Thomas put in the 

conditions, once ATSIC was abolished that agreement lapsed, I'd say. 

CHAIR:  What years were you involved with ATSIC, do you recall? I think it'll help us as we look through 

documents. 
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Mr Gooda:  Oh, I go way back to 1989, when ATSIC was first started. I   to Canberra in the mid-nineties. In 

the late nineties I went over to Perth with ATSIC. I left ATSIC for a little period, but I came back around the 

2000s and became state manager in WA. I think I hold the status of probably being the last employee of ATSIC. I 

was the one who turned the lights out when everything was sort of knocked over. But in that period you're talking 

about, mainly from the mid to late nineties, I was in Canberra working with what we call [inaudible] the CEO of 

ATSIC and the board. 

CHAIR:  The committee has a copy of an ATSIC decision from October 1997 in relation to an Aboriginal flag 

designer licensing agreement with Harold Thomas. Would you have been around in 1997, when this report or this 

contract was worked through? 

Mr Gooda:  Yes, I was there. 

CHAIR:  You may be unable to provide us an answer, but I certainly was wondering whether, if a contract had 

been entered into between Mr Thomas and ATSIC at the time, it would remain a contract with the 

Commonwealth. 

Mr Gooda:  The really strong point that Mr Thomas made was that, if anything happened in ATSIC, it should 

never go into the hands of government. I think it would be a little bit dishonest to say it now goes there if he was 

strong about that. I think you've got to respect his wishes in that, and it's in the contract. And if you were around 

at the abolition of ATSIC, you would know that that's when they were splitting everything. Like I said, art went to 

the museum, the landholdings went to the Indigenous Land Corporation and certain things went to different parts 

of [inaudible]. As it was stipulated in that agreement that it could never go to government, I'd say that's the 

reason. Once ATSIC was abolished, that agreement would have lapsed. 

CHAIR:  Sorry to test your memory on this, but around that time was the report done by Terri Janke: Our 

culture : our future: report on Australian Indigenous cultural and intellectual property rights. Were you around 

at that time when that report was being put together? 

Mr Gooda:  To be quite honest, I can't recall that. All I know is that Terri Janke has been one of our great 

leaders and thought leaders in things around intellectual property, patents and all that sort of stuff. I know that, 

when I was in other areas of work, talking about ownership of DNA, Terri was one of the ones I would go to for 

advice. Even when I was doing my international stuff during the time I was in the social justice commission 

position, we would have relied on Terri Janke going to the UN and talking about Indigenous intellectual property 

rights. So I can't really recall what was happening at that time. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Your evidence has been really helpful for us, especially in terms of the history of ATSIC 

and the contractual arrangement between Mr Thomas and ATSIC. There are certainly some things for us to follow 

up on, and we're certainly hoping to have Ms Terri Janke give evidence to our inquiry as well given that her work 

has certainly been highly praised over the years. Mr Mundine, Ms Coleman and Mr Gooda, thank you all very 

much for your time this morning. It's been important for our committee to hear what you've had to say. 
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FRANCIS, Mr Peter, Partner, FAL Lawyers 

PERIS, Ms Nova, OAM, Private capacity 

Evidence was taken via teleconference—  

[12:29] 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary 

privilege has been provided to each of you and is available from the secretariat. available from the secretariat. Ms 

Peris and Mr Francis, the committee has received your submissions as submission 44 and submission 33, 

respectively. If you wish to make any amendments or corrections to your submissions, please let us know this 

afternoon. You are very welcome to make a brief opening statement before I go to questions from the senators. 

Ms Peris:  Thank you, Senator McCarthy. I would like to thank honourable members of the committee for the 

opportunity to appear before you today. Firstly, I'd like to acknowledge that I am on Larrakia country up here in 

Darwin and I acknowledge their ancestors past and present and their emerging leaders up here in Darwin. I appear 

as a member of the Free the Flag campaign and also in my own capacity as a well-known Aboriginal identity here 

in Australia. So I'd like to make a brief statement. 

I have spent the past 16 months on the front foot, fighting to free the flag. I have taken all the trials and 

tribulations thrown at me. I have spent significant amounts of money and invaluable time investigating and 

working towards the process to free our flag. I spent hundreds of hours in discussions with Ms Laura Thompson, 

Mr Michael O'Connor and our lawyer, Peter Francis, from FAL, who have all worked tirelessly together. I've also 

spent hundreds of hours working across [inaudible] speaking with Aboriginal natural people [inaudible] for them 

to be able to use their symbol. As this committee will have heard, many of these people have not sought to profit 

from the use of the flag; rather they have included the flag on uniforms or team jumpers to wear as a symbol of 

pride and belonging. 

As you are aware from my submission, I was issued with a veiled threatening email from WAM with the 

subject 'Urgent and formal notice: WAM Clothing v Nova Peris'. This veiled threatening email from WAM in 

relation to the Aboriginal surfing champion and proud Bundjalung man Solamon Bailey. I won't go into the detail; 

however, my initial reaction was: 'What the F? Who do these people think they are, putting me on notice 

regarding the Aboriginal flag, asking is me to contact these non-Indigenous people to discuss our flag.?' I know 

all too well how hard it is to achieve in sport, and the sadness that Solamon Bailey portrayed was gut-wrenching. 

It was at that moment I joined forces and gave my voice and attention to the Free the Flag movement. 

From here I have heard countless stories of this pursuit, from aged-care homes to the AFL joining us to stand 

against the exploitation and threats. It is important for the committee to see these threats in the broader experience 

of Aboriginal people in justice and legal systems. The lack of clarity and lack of confidence in navigating direct 

threats from a white organisation has disempowered my people. With this in mind, in the footsteps of many other 

Aboriginal people who have sought resolution to something manifestly broken, I have travelled to Canberra 

multiple times, briefing senators and members of parliament to help you all understand the damage that was being 

done by WAM to the Aboriginal communities and also to all the non-Indigenous organisations that slowly 

removed our flag from merchandise that they all chose to wear in honouring our pride in our living culture. 

I think you all know what the flag means to me and what it means to our mobs across the country and to the 

hundreds of thousands of non-Indigenous people who also wear our flag with pride during significant events. To 

begin with, I want you to see this here. This is a trophy from 1981, when I was 10 years old, for the under-11s 

cross-country championships. It means the world to me. It was where I first realised I could run and win. My 

mother kept all my trophies and school reports as they were all important to me at the start of my journey into 

international sporting stardom. I am showing you this because I have discovered over time what copyright is. 

What we are discussing now comes from a piece of art. Where is this piece of art or drawing and why is it so 

important to Harold? Harold has said many times that the flag was his creation. 'It's my Dreaming; it belongs to 

me,' he has said numerous times. If it were art or a drawing, it would look like what is behind me. It would sit on 

the wall and stay on the wall. How would that piece of art gain its value by sitting there? We all know that it 

didn't.  

We as Aboriginal people never saw the artwork or a drawing, and neither did Judge Ian Sheppard of the 

Copyright Tribunal. I'm not a lawyer, but let's have some common sense prevail here. We have never seen a 

drawing done or an art piece painted. It somehow became a flag—the flag that was apparently given to Gary 

Foley in 1972. It was not a piece of art; it was a flag.  
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I can tell you more about express permission. I would say Harold gave Gary Foley express permission, which 

is permission granted by the author, Harold Thomas. I would say that Harold relinquished his sole copyright when 

he gave a flag, not a piece of art, to Gary Foley to take to the Aboriginal people. Gary took the flag to the east 

coast and then to Canberra, where the Aboriginal people adopted a flag. We did not adopt a piece of art. We took 

hold of a flag that was presented to us—black for us; yellow for the sun, the giver of life; and red for all the blood 

that has been shed. 

We Aboriginal people did not know about this flag that was artwork. It was given to us as a flag, not a piece of 

art. This is not about Harold or Gary Foley. It was what was given to us. It was express permission and then it was 

implied to us Aboriginal people. It was ours. We adopted it. We gave it value. We gave it rise. We gave it 

notoriety. 

I congratulate ATSIC, then Prime Minister Paul Keating and Governor-General Bill Hayden for the 

proclamation of our flag, giving it the status of belonging to this continent that it rightly deserved as a direct result 

of the profound love given to it by us Aboriginal peoples who adopted it in 1972. It was our implied licence that 

gave it rise. If it was still art and copyrighted, it would still be hanging on the wall with little or no value. 

Absolutely it was the right thing to do. It had to be done off the back of Cathy Freeman's victory in 1994 when 

she won Commonwealth Games gold. Cathy Freeman should have been disqualified as she carried our flag that 

was not officially recognised as a nation's flag. I think a lot of backroom conversations took place to ensure that 

the Aboriginal flag was given the status it deserved, hence the proclamation the following year. While the record 

shows that Harold Thomas resisted it, we believe the Governor-General got it right in declaring this important 

symbol as the Aboriginal flag. It surely reflected the groundswell of support from Aboriginal people to have their 

flag recognised.  

This highlights to me that as a standalone symbol or piece of art there is limited value. The value of the design 

is only in the recognition of this symbol as the flag of the Aboriginal people by Aboriginal people. I personally go 

on record saying that I believe that Harold Thomas does not care about the flag. If he did, he would have the 

original drawing or artwork, like I have my under-11s trophy here. This trophy is 39 years old. I know the flag is 

50 next year, but it was 26 years old when Harold took it to the court to claim copyright and not once did he 

produce evidence of art or a painting. When he did take it to the tribunal he was quoted several times as saying, 

'I've always been frustrated when others who are not Aboriginal use [inaudible] to make a profit off it.'  

Whilst I understand it is necessary as part of these proceedings, I find it absolutely disgusting that anyone in 

the federal parliament gives the time of day to Mr Ben Wooster. He has been found guilty of exploiting our 

culture and our art. He has disrespected our 40,000 years of culture in the pursuit of cashing in on gullible tourists 

at the expense of us. He is sending cease-and-desist notices to our community members. That itself speaks 

volumes. How can anyone not see this?  

Ben holds two licences—for Gift Mate and WAM. After being found guilty of exploitation, he was fined by 

the ACCC. He has never paid a cent of that $2.3 million fine and he continues to profit off our pride. It is, 

therefore, not we as Aboriginal peoples who seek to exploit our flag, rather we are seeking to uphold its integrity 

and to ensure that it's in the hands of the people who made it what it is. By his own measure and standard, does 

Harold believe that WAM is not exploiting the flag? 

Lastly, what about the copyright of the artist? Many will claim that this case is similar to Aboriginal copyright 

claims, such as for the art of the late Albert Namatjira. While that copyright struggle highlighted a serious 

injustice for Mr Namatjira's family, this is not the same thing. The individual artworks were not on nurse uniforms 

and sporting attire. People do not march with those pieces of art as they lend their voices to Aboriginal deaths in 

custody, for land rights and against racism. They are not tattooed with pride on some of our people.  

I think it goes without saying that the flag is part of Aboriginal identity and heritage. It's not a commodity that 

hangs on the wall and can or should be owned by an individual. It is the community's flag. It is the Aboriginal 

people's flag. It's the sovereign right of Aboriginal people to have an emblem and a flag that distinguishes us from 

other sovereign nations. The federal government should not have allowed the copyright of the flag in the first 

instance. 

I have to admit that I totally agree with Dr Dimitrios Eliades, a barrister who submitted a submission about the 

power of the Governor-General. In February this year I, along with Laura Thompson and my colleague Michael 

Connolly, wrote to the Governor-General asking him to make the rules for the Aboriginal flag under sections six 

and seven of the Flags Act. Dr Dimitrios Eliades wrote:  

… by the Proclamation, the Commonwealth has in effect acquired the copyright in the Aboriginal Flag. In support of this 

construction, it is part of the indicia of ownership of copyright, that the owner may authorise others to do acts associated with 
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copyright. Further, it is an infringement if an act is done without the licence of the copyright owner. The Flags Act appoints 

the Governor General as the person who, since the Proclamation, holds the right to licence the use of the Aboriginal Flag. 

Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Peris. Mr Francis, do you have an opening statement for the committee? 

Mr Francis:  We are solicitors to Spark Health, Clothing the Gap and the Free the Flag campaign. I thank you 

for the opportunity to appear before you. I'm speaking to you today from Talbot in central Victoria, land 

traditionally owned by the Djargurd Wurrong people. I pay my respects to their elders past, present and emerging. 

I pay my respects also to all Aboriginal people involved in the creation, adoption and campaign to free the 

Aboriginal flag.  

My colleagues and I at FAL Lawyers have been representing Spark Health, Clothing the Gap and Free the Flag 

since June 2019. Aboriginal health agencies, such as my client, use the flag to encourage Aboriginal people, 

particularly Aboriginal men, to engage with those agencies and have their health issues attended to. Every dollar 

spent by these agencies on a flag licence is a dollar not spent on their mission. At the same time they may become 

less effective if they do not use the flag. [inaudible] other reasons we became involved. 

In the course of our involvement we have dealt directly with WAM Clothing and legal representatives in 

relation to their cease-and-desist letters concerning the use of the Aboriginal flag. We have sought copies of 

WAM's claimed exclusive licences, but they have not been provided. Rather a copy of a document that purports to 

be an authority for WAM to sue people on behalf of Mr Thomas for copyright infringement was supplied. It may 

be that there are WAM licences, it's just that curiously, we as solicitors for alleged copyright infringers are yet to 

see them, even in a redacted form that protects commercially sensitive terms. 

In this statement on behalf of the campaign I will present our preferred solution for the flag, justify the use of 

compulsory acquisition if needed and, lastly, describe certain legal issues for consideration. 

Our preferred solution is for the Commonwealth to leave the ownership of the flag's copyright with Mr Thomas 

in acknowledgement of him being the creator of the flag, to acquire the existing licences and the right to grant 

future licences, to compensate all parties as required by law and to appoint an Aboriginal flag officer to 

administer the Commonwealth's acquired rights in accordance with rules made under the Flags Act. 

The rationale for this solution is that copyright ownership is undisturbed; the Commonwealth replaces the 

existing licensees, and they, and Mr Thomas, achieve their objective of financial gain; the flag is free from its 

copyright restraints; and Aboriginal people are free to use their flag as they choose. We are aware of the 

government's flag negotiations and we support them. We seek involvement in fashioning their outcome and 

believe they should be informed by the possibility of compulsory acquisition and the legal issues which I will 

describe shortly. If the negotiations fail, compulsory acquisition is justified because we must have a resolution. 

Every day without one diminishes the value and integrity of the flag and threatens its position.  

This artwork was created with the express purpose of being a flag for a people and a movement. The situation 

is unique, without precedent and hopefully never to be repeated. There is a national interest here that transcends 

any personal interest. Intellectual property should not be, and is not, beyond the reach of compulsory acquisition. 

If homes can be acquired this way, why not copyright? Finally, the Commonwealth has in the past—rarely—

compulsory acquired intellectual property rights, such as its 1915 acquisition of the Bayer aspirin patents.  

As for the unresolved legal issues relating to the flag—and Nova has already mentioned a number of them—

questions arise such as whether Aboriginal people right now have a right to use and reproduce the flag. Harold 

Thomas created the flag for a people and the movement of which he was part. Aboriginal people therefore have 

an arguable right to use the flag as implied licensees or as beneficiaries of the fiduciary basis on which Harold 

Thomas holds his copyright. There's also the question of whether the 1995 proclamation has amounted already to 

a compulsory acquisition of either the copyright in the flag or a licence on behalf of all Australians to use the flag 

without restriction. Finally, the legal questions also include whether Mr Thomas is already entitled to 

compensation, whether the licences granted by him have any validity and whether the cease-and-desist letters 

issued to date are illegal threats of litigation. These matters have never been litigated, but the Free the Flag 

campaign is confident of being resourced to do so if needed. We would urge the government to take these matters 

into account in seeking a resolution and determining the amount of compensation.  

Finally, we would also urge the government to resolve the issues surrounding the flag without delay and 

remove the copyright paywall that sits between the flag on one side and Aboriginal people and organisations and 

all Australians on the other. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Francis. I will go now to senators for questions, beginning with Senator Thorpe.  
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Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Ms Peris and Mr Francis, for your contribution today. We have heard 

evidence in this inquiry from Aboriginal people expressing concern that, if the government compulsorily acquired 

the copyright, it might mirror other shameful instances of government control over Aboriginal people's lives and 

property like stolen wages, land [inaudible], the stolen generations and so on. Do you have a view on how 

Commonwealth ownership, whether it be copyright or licences of the flag, might raise similar issues? 

Ms Peris:  For me personally, I feel that this whole issue came into the spotlight when WAM came into the 

scenario, sending letters to the mobs, the cease and desists, and then you are seeing our sporting codes slowly 

getting the Aboriginal flag off their sporting attire and off their sporting fields. When you get rid of the Aboriginal 

flag, the Torres Strait Islander flag is also slowly disappearing. That's the effect that's going on right now. So, to 

answer your question around the compulsory acquisition, for me as a Territorian, we suffered a lot of injustices 

during the compulsory acquisition during the Northern Territory intervention, where access to Aboriginal 

communities was lifted, and we're still suffering the ill-effects of that. The government compulsorily acquiring the 

stolen generation and sending children to missions—we've suffered that. I feel that right now we suffer at the 

hands of greedy people wanting to profit from us. The fact that the flag was proclaimed by the Governor-General 

in 1995 to me, in a way, I see that as an elevation of [inaudible] 

CHAIR:  Sorry, Nova Peris, are you still there? We just lost you for a second. Keep going. 

Ms Peris:  To me, the fact that the flag was proclaimed already by the Governor-General in 1995 was more 

than symbolic of us being valued equally alongside with the Australian flag. So, to me, the government 

compulsory acquiring it—I feel that that was already done in 1995. We had a train going on the railway tracks, 

and all of a sudden this train has effectively been derailed over the past 18 months. If we go back to the way 

things were before WAM became involved, when we had organisations—and a number of Aboriginal people, in 

particular, liked to make Aboriginal jewellery. That should be allowed. Aboriginal people should be allowed to 

express our identity through being able to reproduce the flag however we see fit. I don't see anything different to 

what already happened in 1995. If anything, if this happens, I feel a sense of human equality because our flag is 

going to be valued and reflected the same as the Australian flag.  

Senator THORPE:  I'm interested in your views on whether some of the difficulties people are facing with the 

flag might be solved by establishing an Aboriginal community controlled model that governs its use, rather than 

the government? 

Ms Peris:  I'm all for that, in a way. I think Mr Francis raised that. We know that the Australian flag has a 

Commonwealth flags officer. An entity could be set up as the Aboriginal flags officer. I should also mention that 

it was the Commonwealth's agenda in 2000 to set up Reconciliation Australia. So the government has a mandate 

for reconciliation in this country, and I believe that every single organisation that has a Reconciliation Action 

Plan—we already have Supply Nation: you register, you're there, we know there's that 51 per cent so they're 

Aboriginal organisations. People wanting to do to the right thing go to Supply Nation knowing that they're going 

to get a predominantly Aboriginal owned organisation for government procurement. So if there was an Aboriginal 

flags officer, all these agencies with Reconciliation Action Plans should be allowed to wear the Aboriginal flag—

the AFL, the NRL, all your little schools and all your groups—because when you're trying to reconcile, part of 

reconciling is reconciling with us as Aboriginal people, and the flag is our identity. When you mention Aboriginal 

people, this flag comes hand-in-hand. We are one with it. So that's how I feel. Anyone who has a Reconciliation 

Action Plan shouldn't have to pay to use the flag to show their appreciation, love and respect of Aboriginal 

people.  

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  We can all really admire the passion that you bring to this. You've demonstrated to 

us through your submission and today that your testimony is important and the value that you place on the 

Aboriginal flag, and, speaking more broadly for the community, the value that the Aboriginal flag has for 

Aboriginal people across Australia. I thank you for that. You're wearing a T-shirt saying, 'Free the flag.' Are you 

speaking on behalf of the official Free the Flag organisation?   

Ms Peris:  No, I'm just speaking as Nova. Obviously, I have travelled with Laura Thompson and Michael 

Connolly several times as individuals who have been affected by the impact of what's happened with these 

licences. So I joined forces in giving my voice, as someone who has a national profile, to talk about it and to bring 

added media exposure to it. I'm speaking first and foremost as Nova Peris, Australian ex-athlete, ex-Senator or 

whatever you like to call me, but I am very passionate and I think this is the medium that we've been able to use 

to elevate the voices and concerns of the community.  

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  One of the things that I'm really struggling with about what you're suggesting with 

compulsory acquisition is that I'm really concerned about the flow-on effect of that, if that were to transpire. I 
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think you were saying before that you don't recognise that the flag is artwork, is that right? You said it's just a 

flag. How is there actually a difference?  

Ms Peris:  For me, this here is a framed bit of art. We, as Aboriginal people, were never presented with art; we 

were presented with a flag. If we go back 49 years and if Gary Foley had taken a piece of art to the tent embassy 

and told mob on the ground, 'This belongs to Harold Thomas. He did it. It's a piece of art. We're going to make it 

into a flag, but we're going to eventually have to pay to use it,' I can guarantee you that everyone would have said, 

'You know what to do with it; you can stick it where the sun don't shine.' For me, that is a piece of art, and what 

I'm grappling with is: if this piece of art was so important to Harold Thomas, who comes out and says, 'It's my 

dreaming; it's my story,' well, where is it, Harold? He's never produced a piece of art to say how valuable it is. It 

would never have increased its value if it wasn't for us as Aboriginal people taking it as a flag and giving it the 

rise, the notoriety and the significance. We've marched under this. People have put this flag over their coffins 

when they've died. People have tattooed it. We can't get mixed up between art and a flag. The art has never been 

presented to us as that. We don't know where it is. All we know was that 49 years ago it came as a flag. That's 

what we are saying. It was implied to us. The permission was given from Harold to Gary Foley in the format of a 

flag. It was given to the Aboriginal people, who ran with it. We adopted it. So how do you take back—when it 

was given to us, it was free. Now, 49 years later, you're saying we have to pay or seek permission to use it. Where 

does our implied licence fit in the whole scheme of things?  

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  With what you're saying, what I'm struggling with isn't the medium in which it's 

produced. Isn't that just semantics—whether it's a flag or whether it's on a canvas or on bark or whatever 

medium? I'm struggling to understand the position that you're taking here?  

Ms Peris:  I'm an artist as well. I've painted. I've created artworks and I've sold artworks. I'm all for preserving 

the rights and intellectual property of Aboriginal artists, when it is art. But it was never presented to us as art. It 

was presented to us as a flag. It was presented to us as a flag that came on a flag pole. It was erected and it was a 

symbol of us. It gave us our identity and for 49 years we've run with that. It is internationally renowned. When 

people like Coldplay's Chris Martin, Ed Sheeran and all these international artists come out and they wear an 

Aboriginal flag on their T-shirts that's acknowledgement that they're giving to us as First Nations people. They're 

not putting a T-shirt on saying: 'We are representing Harold Thomas' Dreaming.' They're not putting a T-shirt on 

to give kudos to Harold Thomas, so he can continue to seek royalties from Flagworld. 

Harold has never raised a sweat in his life to give value to this flag. We've promoted it. We've given it 

notoriety. We've given it a bigger meaning. That's what I'm saying. In fact, if anything then we have been misled 

as Aboriginal people. We should be up in arms, because we're being misled. We were never told it was a piece of 

art, it was framed and it was special. It was Harold's. No, it came to us as a flag. We said yes. It was implied to us 

that this is our flag, and so much so that the Governor-General— 

CHAIR:  I'll just step in for a moment in terms of Senate procedures. Given the mention of Mr Thomas, we 

will need to clarify and provide him an opportunity to respond in terms of some of the commentary that's taking 

place at the moment—just to alert you both. Senator O'Sullivan, we can seek further questions in relation to some 

of your line of questioning. Over to you, Senator O'Sullivan. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Chair. You seem to be presenting to us with some sort of authority on 

the history of the flag, but do you know whether anyone actually asked Mr Thomas, before it was proclaimed, 

what his views were on this? It's hardly his fault, is it? 

Ms Peris:  I think there has been a submission put in by a couple of organisations that give detail around what 

transpired in the 12 months or 18 months leading up to the proclamation of the flag. All I know is that it was a 

mandate around the human rights element back in 1994 around giving the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

flags official status. All I can say is, from the perspective of what Aboriginal people have expressed—their 

views—yes, it was proclaimed. Like I mentioned to Senator Thorpe before, the proclamation to me is a way of 

giving Aboriginal people equal status. We've got our own emblem. We've got something that is representing of us 

as sovereign people. For the Commonwealth to acknowledge that in 1995, I believe the Governor-General got it 

right. The Prime Minister got it right. ATSIC got it right. They all supported it. The flow-on effect of that was, I 

understand, that Mr Thomas was compensated for that, for the use of the flag. For me this is— 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  But what authority are you speaking on— 

CHAIR:  Final question, Senator O'Sullivan. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  and from a historical perspective? You're casting aspersions over Mr Thomas. Were 

you there? What grounds are you— 
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Ms Peris:  I wasn't there. I've read the transcripts. Mr Thomas didn't come to the copyright hearings with any 

piece of art. He came with a couple of witnesses—a lady, Ms Hanson, who made the flag—but he certainly didn't 

come with any evidence to say he did. I'm not questioning a number of things, but what I'm trying to say is: if 

something was so valuable to him, such as a piece of art, something that he designed, he's never produced it. And 

we, as Aboriginal people, were never presented with his artwork. We were presented with an Aboriginal flag; a 

flag that became known to the rest of the world, to the rest of this country, that was symbolic and that was a 

representation of us as sovereign people of this nation. 

CHAIR:  I'll go to Senator Dodson now. Senator Dodson, you have the call. 

Senator DODSON:  G'day to Nova and to Mr Francis. If I could go to you, Mr Francis—I'm just a bit 

intrigued that there's been no litigation to uphold the broad property right of Aboriginal people. Is that because 

there's no real basis for it in the whitefellas' law? 

Mr Francis:  No, not at all. In fact, it's the same question that has occupied our minds in that we've informed 

WAM and we've informed Mr Thomas of our views of their claims. We've invited them, if you'll forgive the 

expression, to 'put up or shut up,' and they've done neither. There is no case, but there could be a case. As I said in 

my opening statement, there are a number of issues that relate to the flag and relate to the licences that have been 

issued under it—or the copyright, rather—that have never been litigated by the courts. They should be, in my 

respectful view, because they go to the value of the flag. In terms of the law of copyright, that is the forum, or 

that's the legal basis, on which all these issues would be considered. So there is law that would allow the proper 

consideration of these points. In addition to the Copyright Act, I should also mention there's the Flags Act, and the 

import and impact, as Nova Peris has already indicated, of the proclamation. So, yes, there are matters and there 

are means of agitating them in front of the courts. 

Senator DODSON:  We've received a lot of evidence where people are basically saying Mr Thomas's 

copyright ought to be respected and, on the other hand, people saying that the Commonwealth should not acquire 

his copyright in any way, shape or form. Without his voluntary surrender or entering into an agreement with the 

Commonwealth, one of the options put to us was that Aboriginal people would need to design another flag—or, 

as I understand Ms Peris is saying, the flag has got this moral and ethical cultural investment in it to such a degree 

that there has to be a way where that can be realised in law, somehow, as a property of the Aboriginal people. 

Mr Francis:  Yes. 

Senator DODSON:  Can you help us find a way through this? At the moment we know the government is 

involved in some form of negotiation with, I presume, Mr Thomas, WAM and GiftsMate et cetera. In your 

submission you seemed to say that there's no real legal basis upon which they're involved in those discussions, 

because there's no evidence to say that there's any validity. 

Mr Francis:  I have a couple of points. First, we support a negotiated and agreed outcome. That, to me, is the 

quickest way home given that the negotiations are already on foot, and we would encourage them. But there's also 

nothing that focuses the minds of people around the negotiation table more than the prospect that a third party 

might make the decision for them. That's the value, we say, of compulsory acquisition. We also say that the 

government—not voluntarily, as it were—is tied with its hands behind its back when going into those 

negotiations. 

As to the point of WAM's rights, I would trust the government is better informed than my firm is as to their 

rights. I don't say they don't exist; I just say I've not seen evidence of them beyond that [inaudible]. But we also 

say that the value of the flag—its future value, which is what would be considered in compensating—needs to 

take into account what's happening to the flag right now, with its integrity and its value being eroded through this 

current experience. That should inform what is paid by way of compensation. It seems to me that WAM can't 

have it both ways. They can't create a situation whereby Aboriginal people and organisations are ceasing their use 

of the flag and looking, in fact, to design a new flag. They can't do that on the one hand and run down its value, as 

it were, and on the other hand ask for a big cheque. The two don't seem to go together. 

As to the retention of Mr Thomas' rights, a solution that we've advocated would have him retaining his 

copyright. Even if he lost his copyright, he would still retain his moral rights—rights that would allow him 

forever to be acknowledged as the artist to stop other people falsely claiming that they're the artist and rights to 

prevent any derogatory use of the flag. So there is a path forward. Our submission really goes to what should be 

paid. 

The final point on that is that the value of this artwork has been created by the Aboriginal people's adoption of 

it as their flag. What's being discussed here is copyright. What's that mean? It's a statutory right given to a piece of 

art. What's the value in a piece of art? It depends. It depends on whether it's hanging on a wall, as Nova Peris has 
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said, or it's been adopted by a people as their flag. If that adoption has happened, who's created the value, and 

what compensation should be paid when that copyright, or the right to grant licences under it, is acquired? 

Senator DODSON:  Maybe Mr Foley is to be compensated. 

Mr Francis:  Regarding the history of the flag and the gentleman from Perth who was questioning Nova Peris 

before about her authority, if you read the facts of the case and if you read the published material and statements 

from Mr Thomas and Mr Foley, it's pretty clear that Mr Foley had an involvement in the flag's creation. It could 

be said that he commissioned it and that it was done for him, the people and the movement he represented. That's 

the basis of the decision we take about implied licences. 

Senator DODSON:  I'm not sure whether Madam Chair is going to raise this with you, but one of you 

mentioned that—I'm not sure whether it was you, Mr Francis, or whether it was Nova—there's been some 

correspondence go to the Governor-General to seek him to exercise what's presumed to be his authority to do 

something in relation to the flag. 

Mr Francis:  Yes. 

Senator DODSON:  Can that correspondence be tendered? 

Mr Francis:  Yes. My firm issued that correspondence, and I'd be more than pleased to provide it. We've not 

had a response to it, I should say. What we wanted was pretty simple. Under the Flags Act, the Governor-General 

has the power to make rules relating to the flag. As it happens, the Governor-General has made rules relating to 

the Aboriginal flag, and there are two of them. The first is: 'permission is not required' to fly the flag. The 

second—and this is the point—is as follows: 

The Australian Aboriginal Flag is protected by copyright and may only be reproduced in accordance with the provisions of 

the Copyright Act 1968 or with the permission of Mr Harold Thomas. 

My suggestion is that you fix this whole issue if you just change that rule. You can get the power to give the 

Governor-General to change that rule if you make the acquisition, by agreement or otherwise, of either the 

copyright or the licences and the right to grant future licences. That rule could simply say, 'Anyone who's got a 

legitimate reason to do so may reproduce the flag without further permission from anyone.' End of story. 

Senator DODSON:  My last question is again to you, Mr Francis, but Nova might wish to comment on this. 

On the matters that you've put to us in your submission and the concerns that you have, have they been conveyed 

to the minister for Aboriginal Australians, as we call it today? 

Mr Francis:  Yes, they have. 

Senator BRAGG:  Thank you to you both, Ms Peris and Mr Francis, for your evidence today. I want to recap 

my understanding of your testimony. Is your position that you don't believe that Mr Thomas should be in 

possession of the copyright? 

Mr Francis:  No. The copyright, as you'd no doubt be aware, happens automatically by way of the operation 

of the Copyright Act. What we say is, essentially, that the right to use the flag and the right to reproduce the flag 

has already been granted to Aboriginal people—the force of the basis upon which the flag was created in the first 

place. As I said in my opening statement, the flag was created for a people and for a movement. When a person is 

engaged to produce an outcome—in this case, an artwork—for a people and a purpose, there's an implied licence, 

we say, for them to use the flag. 

Lastly, on that point, there is quite a strong argument. A gentleman very learned in law who has already been 

quoted here today has produced an argument that said that the act of proclamation may have amounted to, 

intentionally or otherwise, the acquisition by the Commonwealth of the copyright. The reason for that is, once a 

flag is proclaimed, the Governor-General, under the Flags Act, has certain powers to allow and authorise people 

to use the flag. Those powers are powers that belong to the copyright owner. How can two people have the same 

power? That's the argument. 

Senator BRAGG:  Just so I understand: your position is that you believe that Mr Thomas, holding the 

copyright, is wrong at law? 

Mr Francis:  No, I'm not saying that; I'm saying that there's an argument that the Flags Act may have already 

acquired his copyright. It's an argument; it's not a fact. My submission— 

Senator BRAGG:  I refer to your submission, Ms Peris, where you refer to compulsory acquisition. Your view 

is that the rights to the flag should be compulsorily acquired without compensation. Is that right? 

Ms Peris:  Yes, that's correct. 
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Senator BRAGG:  Is there any particular view that you want to offer as to why there shouldn't be a 

compensation provided? I think the historical basis for acquisition has generally provided some form of 

compensation. 

Ms Peris:  Yes. I've had this discussion with Mr Francis, and he said the same thing. But my view is that I do 

not believe Gifts Mate. You've got the director there, and, in my evidence, there's no moral rights with either one 

of those copyright licence holders. But I also believe that Mr Thomas has received a substantial amount of money 

already from the Commonwealth for the flag. Like I said previously, if it wasn't for us back in 1972 as Aboriginal 

people, the value of the flag hasn't been by Mr Thomas [inaudible] by us Aboriginal people. 

Senator BRAGG:  I'm interested in this particular part. The vast weight of evidence from all of the Indigenous 

individuals and groups who have presented evidence is that Mr Thomas does, in fact, own this copyright and he 

should be compensated fairly, on every basis, pretty much, that has been put to this committee. It seems odd to me 

that you would say he shouldn't be compensated. 

Ms Peris:  This would never have occurred if it wasn't for Gary Foley taking a flag to Canberra, via the east 

coast, and we gave it rise; we gave it value. It would have been this piece of art sitting on the wall, somewhere, 

where Mr Thomas had never produced evidence of art. What I'm saying is: is it art or is it a flag? And then being 

told it was— 

Senator BRAGG:  But that's not how the law works. 

Ms Peris:  No [inaudible] Aboriginal people, where's our implied licence? [inaudible] and then you take that 

back and say that, now, we as Aboriginal people have to pay for the use that we gave value of something. I 

understand what you're saying. But we can go into a [inaudible] number of times where—for example, the 

Northern Territory intervention up here, the Aboriginal people in this conversation of the compulsory acquiring of 

Aboriginal land up here. We can go on and on and talk about a heap of injustices. All I'm saying is, there are two 

things here: there is an art, there's a copyright, or there's a flag that was given to us, freely, 49 years ago.  

I'm all for the protection of Aboriginal artists. But the irony of this is Harold Thomas has knowingly given two 

licences to an individual who's been summonsed through the court system and fined by denigrating our 

intellectual property. On the one hand, we're saying, 'Oh, Harold!' But I don't get that. Do you know what I'm 

saying? We've got some person here who doesn't value us as Aboriginal [inaudible]. He went and got 50,000 

pieces of art made in Indonesia and stamped it with an authority to say it's authentic Aboriginal art. Where are the 

moral rights? Where's the integrity? We're just fighting for what was given to us, freely, 49 years ago. 

Senator BRAGG:  I have no doubt about the sincerity, and I am being cognisant of the sensitivity. But, in my 

final question I would, again, say: wouldn't it be a bad precedent for the national government to override the 

rights of an Indigenous artist that have been affirmed and widely supported by the Indigenous community? 

Ms Peris:  You've received some 50 submissions, but we've got close to 160,000 people who have signed on to 

say, 'We want to free the flag.' I see what you're saying, yes, but I'm talking about maintaining the integrity and 

the copyrights of all Aboriginal people. I'm saying: what does it mean to us as Aboriginal people? We made that 

flag. We gave it rise. That's what I'm saying. How do you take from us something that you gave us? What I'm 

saying is, Harold Thomas has been paid. He's been paid in the hundreds of thousands of dollars since [inaudible] 

in exclusive rights and royalties out of every flag that he's sold. The Aboriginal flag is a lot more expensive than 

the Australian flag. So he receives royalties. He's received money from ATSIC. He's received money from 

government entities. Don't think that Harold Thomas has not been compensated. He has. For 23 years he has been 

receiving royalties from the world. For every single flag that you politicians buy for your offices and give out, he 

gets royalties. And he gets it because Aboriginal people gave the value of that flag to him. He didn't do it. 

CHAIR:  Nova Peris and Peter Francis, thank you so much for your time today. It's been really valuable to 

hear from both of you, and in particular to hear the passion that you bring to this inquiry and the evidence that 

you've brought to us today. I take this opportunity now to thank you both. 

Proceedings suspended from 13:25 to 13:45  
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MORIARTY, Mr John, Private capacity 

SETRIGHT, Ms Jo, Executive Director, Policy, Coalition of Major Professional and Participation Sports  

Evidence was taken via teleconference—  

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you both for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about 

parliamentary privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. The committee has 

received a submission from Ms Jo Setright, submission No. 31. Ms Setright, if there are any changes to your 

submission please let us know. I invite you both to make a brief opening statement and introduce yourselves. 

Mr Moriarty:  I'm originally from the Northern Territory but now live in Sydney. I'm very happy to be here 

today. 

Ms Setright:  Firstly, there are no changes to the submission. I'm conscious of your time. I imagine you don't 

want me to actually read that submission. If it would be helpful, I could summarise its key points. 

CHAIR:  No, no. We have your submission. It is just Senate procedure to invite participants to also express a 

few words if they wish to before we go straight to questions. 

Ms Setright:  I'm very happy just to rest with the submission other than to just bring forth that this is obviously 

a matter that is of real significance for the members of COMPPS, noting for the record that they are the AFL, 

Cricket Australia, the FFA, Netball Australia, the National Rugby League and Tennis Australia. On the basis that 

the submission has been read, I'd be very happy if we just moved straight to questions. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much. I will go to Senator Davey for first questions for this panel. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you both for making your time available for our committee today. Firstly, can I get 

your thoughts, Mr Moriarty, on the situation we're currently in, and moving forward, with regard to recognition 

and acceptance of the flag as a very important symbol in Australia and also recognising the copyright of the 

original designer of the flag? Do you have thoughts on that? 

Mr Moriarty:  I'll go back to the time when we set about the process to develop the Aboriginal flag. Would 

you like to hear about that? 

Senator DAVEY:  Yes, I'd like to hear that very much. 

Mr Moriarty:  I was in Adelaide. We had the Australian Aboriginal Progress Association—Malcolm Cooper 

was chairman of it. I'm from the Northern Territory originally, from the same place as Senator McCarthy, from 

Borroloola, but we were at a home in Adelaide. Malcolm Cooper was in that home too, and so was Harold 

Thomas. At that point, in the early 1960s, we were fighting for Aboriginal rights. We would be a voice for 

Aboriginal people. We were at the local level, fighting for Aboriginal rights and holding demonstrations and so 

on in front of the state parliament house and, of course, pointing out the plight of Aboriginal people through the 

press. There was also the Federal Council for the Advancement of Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders—the 

FCAATSI, as they called it. It was national, and we would go to Canberra. I was very poor in those days—I still 

am—but we used to travel to Canberra every Easter to hold these meetings for FCAATSI. 

But at this time in Adelaide we had demonstrations and stuff, as I mentioned. On this particular occasion 

Malcolm and I, and the progress association, said that we should have a form for recognition of Aboriginal 

people, not only at our local level but nationally. We developed the concept of an Aboriginal body and pushed for 

an Aboriginal flag. Malcolm Cooper and I sat down and we [inaudible] at the bottom of the flag, but also to push 

it at the national level. At that time, Harold Thomas was working at the South Australian Museum in Adelaide 

under the auspices of a fellow called Bob Edwards, who is in hospital at the moment—he's elderly. He's a strong 

supporter of us. 

When we decided to have the Aboriginal flag we had a bit of a concept for it, which I can show you. I have a 

document here which I've had all these years. It shows the Aboriginal flag colours and also the way it would be 

designed with Harold— 

CHAIR:  Mr Moriarty, can I just interrupt for a moment? Would you care to table that document which you 

have with you to the Senate committee? 

Mr Moriarty:  I can get you a photocopy of it. 

CHAIR:  That would be great. We'll discuss it later, but I just wanted to put that on the record. If we could 

have that document, that would be appreciated. Please continue. 

Mr Moriarty:  Harold Thomas then finally devised the Aboriginal flag. When we were designing it, we said it 

should have the top part of the flag larger than the bottom section. But when Harold designed the flag he made it 

equal. So the black part was, of course, to represent the people, the Aboriginal people of Australia, and the sun is 
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to bring the light and life to the country, and Australia, and after that the red, for the ochre colours that are used in 

ceremonies and so on. It was that sort of concept that we developed, and Harold designed the flag, and in the early 

sixties we flew that Aboriginal flag at a demonstration on King William Street. That's how we developed that 

concept, with him. 

That's the idea of getting a flag that, with 360 totally different language groups in the country, with traditional 

Aboriginal borders and boundaries and tribes—but we wanted to bring all those people together, and we had 

realised, with the fight for Aboriginal rights, the fact that, many of the people where the earliest white settlers 

came had a different [inaudible] to in the Northern Territory, because we were in the more isolated areas, and we 

had a strong connection with our traditional culture. What we wanted to do was so we could bring all Aboriginal 

people together so that they can celebrate—not only Aboriginal people but all people in Australia—to celebrate 

and have the flag available them, so that not only Aboriginal people can use it but anyone in Australia can use it, 

as part of their identity in this country, to link in—like the Australian flag. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you, that's really informative. Given that we're now in this seeming impasse, where 

there is a copyright that's been recognised by the High Court, what would your preferred position be going 

forward? 

Mr Moriarty:  The licensing, the copyright matters, should be provided by legal specialists according to best 

practice—and that, I think, is a very, very important for all Australians. And also Harold Thomas should be 

recognised and renumerated by specialist legal consideration through the market best practice, so that Harold can 

be recognised. That way, it can be brought to the attention of all Australians. And also, the Commonwealth, in my 

view, should hold the right to vest in the whole Australian community to freely acknowledge and use the flag, 

with the same respect and laws as the Australian flag. I think those three aspects are a very important part of how 

we should be going. 

Senator DAVEY:  Just to clarify: recognising Mr Thomas as the original designer and giving him his due 

recompense for his copyright—we're not talking about compulsory acquisition; we're talking about a negotiated 

outcome so that the Commonwealth can then have the rights to allow all Australians to use and be proud of the 

flag. 

Mr Moriarty:  Yes, absolutely, and through the market best practice, as I mentioned, I totally agree. 

Senator DAVEY:  COMPPS, what would be the best way forward for you? 

Ms Setright:  COMPPS, as a member organisation with seven members, doesn't offer something perhaps as 

precise as Mr Moriarty's solution. Our approach is more on our shared view —when I say 'our', I mean the seven 

sports—on principles. And those principles are very consistent with what Mr Moriarty just articulated—that is, 

some form of outcome that would respect the rights of the legally recognised creator, Mr Thomas, but at the same 

time would enable reasonable and wide access for the national sporting body—the members of COMPPS to the 

national governing bodies for their sports. But there's a particular concern about access and availability of the use 

of the flag by all the sporting communities and organisations that sit within the umbrella of the broader sports 

network. Another element of that access would be real clarity of use. Many of you would be very familiar with 

how community sport works, and it works with the reliance on part-time volunteers, so there needs to be an 

outcome where those volunteers are not called upon to make judgement calls about legal interpretation and 

definitions, potentially running the risk of noncompliance with the system. Therefore, clarity of permitted use 

would be a key feature of a solution. As to the precise methodology for coming at that, the COMPPS is not 

offering a specific position. 

Senator DAVEY:  I think that's all from me for the moment. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you for coming and participating today, particularly Mr Moriarty, a very well-

respected elder of our people in this country. My first question is to Mr Moriarty, as a distinguished Aboriginal 

artist, an elder and a sportsperson. We've heard evidence that more and more Aboriginal people are reluctant to 

fly or use the flag either at all or until the issues of copyright and licensing are finalised. Have you noticed 

yourself that there is a decline in the use of the flag, and how has that impacted on our community? 

Mr Moriarty:  I've been in the lockup with the coronavirus issue and haven't been out very much. Being an 

old black fella, I've been inside with restricted movement, of course. But I'm sad to hear that there is less use of it. 

I think it should be in full use by everyone in this country as part of our heritage, being Aboriginal but also 

Australian as well. 

Senator THORPE:  We've heard evidence in this inquiry from Aboriginal people expressing concern that, if 

the government can compulsorily acquire the copyright, it might mirror other shameful instances of government 

control over Aboriginal people's lives and property, like stolen wages, land seizures, stolen generations and so on. 
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Do you have a view on how Commonwealth ownership, whether it be copyright or licences, of the flag might 

raise similar issues? 

Mr Moriarty:  I think these are a lot of issues that will need to be tackled. From my viewpoint, I can't think of 

any other body that can hold the rights to that that can be manipulated and organised with the national 

government, and I think that's a good part of it. But I also think that we should be able to use it whenever we 

want—at demonstrations and such. It's our identity, and all Australians should be part of that flag and 

acknowledge it. That's the best way that I can think of to go. But, as I mentioned earlier, I think it should be 

looked at to hold the best practice it can [inaudible] government taking over [inaudible]. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. There have been witnesses coming forward with a suggestion of an 

independent Aboriginal body of some sort that could potentially take on the licensing aspect of the flag. What 

would be the position from those sporting codes on working with a potential independent Aboriginal body, and 

potentially paying a licensing fee to an independent body rather than how it is organised currently? 

Ms Setright:  I'm not able to speak on behalf of the individual sports, so I wouldn't want to be seen to put 

forward the view of the individual sports. COMPPS, as a group, hasn't considered that prospect put forward. 

Having said that, I can say that a number of the sports have reported that they had made very genuine and 

extensive efforts to reach agreement with the current licensees but just were not able to. As pointed out in our 

submission, their decision to just cease to use the flag recently had two aspects. One was the inability to reach 

acceptable commercial terms about their own use. It was also in recognition and support of other groups who 

might not be in the same commercial position as some of the bigger sports. So, to extrapolate from that, I think 

that the sports would approach such a process and a body with the same sort of genuine attempt to reach an 

outcome that was fair and reasonable, that recognised the rights of the original creator and that also enabled 

access. They also would take the advice of their respective Indigenous advisory councils on that. Certainly there 

would be very much a willingness to get to that outcome. I think that probably would summarise the position. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. Mr Moriarty, did you want to make a comment? 

Mr Moriarty:  I would just like to reiterate what I said. I think it would be good if the use of that flag is as 

independent as possible. I can't think any other body except the federal government should hold responsibility for 

it. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. No further questions from me, Chair. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Senator Thorpe. I'll go to Senator Dodson. 

Senator DODSON:  Good afternoon, Mr Moriarty. It's good to see you. 

Mr Moriarty:  Very nice to see you too, Senator Dodson. Also I didn't mention Senator Lidia Thorpe and, of 

course, Senator Malarndirri McCarthy. 

Senator DODSON:  There are a few more of us around these days than there were back in the day! 

Mr Moriarty:  Absolutely. That's a prize we were fighting for. 

Senator DODSON:  Mr Moriarty, were you in Adelaide at the time Mr Thomas and Mr Foley were having 

some sort of discussion about a flag or a design for a flag? 

Mr Moriarty:  I was in Adelaide then, yes. We'd already discussed this in Adelaide, with the Aboriginal 

Progress Association, and Foley came along a little later. As I mentioned, FCAATSI was one of the many things 

that we linked up in the Aboriginal Progress Association. We wanted the flag developed, and Harold Thomas was 

in the same home as us, in Semaphore, St Francis House. We had all the Aboriginal boys from the Northern 

Territory there. 

Senator DODSON:  Again, I know it's a long time ago, but there was a position put to us that somehow or 

other Mr Thomas was commissioned to design a flag. Is that anything like your understanding? 

Mr Moriarty:  Not to my knowledge at all, no. I spoke a little earlier about the Aborigines Progress 

Association pushing [inaudible] to develop the flag in detail. 

Senator DODSON:  Sorry, I missed some of that, John. 

Mr Moriarty:  When we were in the home in Adelaide, we were part of the Aborigines Progress Association 

to push for Aboriginal rights. This was back in the early 1960s. We were connected with FCAATSI. That's where 

we met up with Gary Foley and Bruce McGuinness. They were from New South Wales. In those early days 

[inaudible] what we were trying to do is ensure that Australians had a national voice. We thought that an 

Aboriginal flag should be part of it. That's where Harold Thomas came up with the final design. The document 

I've got here was part of that concept in those early days. 
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Senator DODSON:  I'm not clear what document you have there. Is that a document back from the period of 

the sixties and seventies that you refer to? 

Mr Moriarty:  In the early sixties, yes. It's this one here that I showed earlier. It's about the flag. There are 

three points on the side of it. 

Senator DODSON:  Has the chair asked you if we could receive a copy of that? 

Mr Moriarty:  Yes. 

Senator DODSON:  The challenge, as you'd know too well, is between the individual right of an artist for 

them to do what they wish with their product or their creation and the collective right of the community. The 

Aboriginal community seems to take a view that somehow or other the flag is their property, despite the fact of 

whitefella law not acknowledging that. Have you got any suggestions as to what might be the best way to get an 

outcome here? 

Mr Moriarty:  My thought that I mentioned earlier was that, if the flag is taken on by the federal government, 

it will have least amount of—and I'm not talking about this legally, because I also mentioned that the flag should 

be done according to the best practice of the law, and I thought that the Australian government can hold some of 

this, and that can be used like a national flag along with our Australian flag. I know we've come through some 

difficult times in those days, and my community in Borroloola can be part of that. But, to move on, we fought 

hard in those early days for the laws to change; hence it brought about the 1967 referendum and also [inaudible]. 

This, I thought, gave a great start for us to move in a particular direction without people isolated at all different 

levels. 

Senator DODSON:  There is a sense that people feel that the flag was somehow or other given to them by Mr 

Thomas. I don't know whether the seminal event was the Tent Embassy in Canberra at the time or some other 

occasion, but, because of the use that it's been put to and the various ways in which people look at it and are 

attached to it, there is a sense that somehow the right to freely use it has been bequeathed by Mr Thomas to the 

people. Do you have any sense of that? 

Mr Moriarty:  No. I'm aware of the Tent Embassy. I've visited that on a few occasions, because, when we're 

fighting for Aboriginal rights as the Federal Council for the Advancement of Aborigines and Torres Strait 

Islanders, FCAATSI, we go to Canberra, and that's where the Tent Embassy was established. The flag was there 

to promote Aboriginal identity. But what I'm relating to now is to say that Aboriginals and non-Aboriginals 

should use the Aboriginal flag as they do the Australian flag and be part of that. That's why I think the federal 

government should take over those responsibilities and have ownership of that, so that people can freely be part of 

that identity and the use of that flag. 

Senator DODSON:  Yes. Again, it's been put to us, I think, that there is a question or a possibility—

'possibility' might be too high, but there's a question—as to whether, when the flag was registered under the Flag 

Act, the Commonwealth gained some authority, through the Governor-General, to determine its use. Are you 

familiar with any of that? 

Mr Moriarty:  No. I think that's where the legal aspect should be looked at in detail, and I'm not a legal aspect 

person, so I'll let the experts do that. 

Senator DODSON:  Okay. This is my last question, Mr Moriarty—not that I don't have many others that I'd 

like to ask you. If this all falls into a heap—which would be a very sorry day—there's already some suggestion 

that some Aboriginal groups are talking about potentially designing another flag for the Aboriginal people. What 

would your views be about that? 

Mr Moriarty:  I'd be very sorry to see the Aboriginal flag go, because it refers to many difficult stages of 

development of Aboriginal rights in this country, and we'd be losing all that [inaudible] instrumental for 

Aboriginal rights in those early days as well. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you, Mr Moriarty. Good to see you. 

Mr Moriarty:  Likewise. 

CHAIR:  I'm just going to put some questions to you, Ms Setright, in relation to your submission. I note in 

your submission the number of national sporting codes who are member organisations. We've had submissions, 

obviously, from the Australian Football League. Can you tell us if any others of your member organisations who 

have used the Aboriginal flag and other material have now stopped using the flag? 

Ms Setright:  Yes. I'm aware that Cricket Australia have taken that decision, and I believe that Rugby 

Australia, who have a joint initiative with the Lloyd McDermott Foundation, have also made that decision, as well 

as the NRL. That's my understanding. In relation to the other member sports, I think it's just been that—as we say 
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in our submission—because of the different season cycles and event cycles which also have been interrupted, 

obviously, by COVID, they might not have had a recent event where they've had to make that decision, but their 

current position is that they wouldn't intend to use the flag at the moment, while this situation with the licensing 

exists. 

CHAIR:  Right. In your submission, you point out that, between all these sporting codes, they have over nine 

million participants through 16,000 clubs, so, that's a great deal of coverage right across Australia. Can you tell 

the committee what impact not using the flag has had on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander players, if you've 

got examples? 

Ms Setright:  I wouldn't have thought to speak for particular cases other than to say that, obviously, sport is a 

federated model—as well as our system of government—and so those numbers reflect that federated model. What 

is being reported up through to the national governing bodies, who are the actual members of COMPPS, is that it 

is a source of distress and dismay that the flag has been—first of all, there's this real confusion and lack of 

understanding and lack of clarity as to how it is or isn't able to be used. Then where decisions have been made at 

the community level that's clearly a source of distress, disappointment, et cetera, because there's such pride in 

using it at these events that come together to celebrate and share Aboriginal culture with non-Indigenous 

Australians. Sport provides such an opportunity and such a platform to unite Australians. It feels like that's being 

taken away, as well as that fundamental concept of playing under the flag and having that pride. 

CHAIR:  What would you like to see come out of these hearings that we're holding, Ms Setright? 

Ms Setright:  Perhaps a return to what used to prevail, which was the ability for all of those community groups 

and Aboriginal players to celebrate their culture, their history and their struggle through the flag, and to share it 

with the rest of the Australian community. I know that this is a very challenging task, but to do so in such a way 

that at the same time respects Mr Thomas's rights. As I think I mentioned before, this concept of clarity can't be 

underestimated, because any protocols that might come forward need to be something that can be easily applied 

without a cumbersome process of trying to establish whether use is or is not permitted. Once those initial 

principles are put together and formed into some form of protocol—governed, potentially, as you have raised, by 

an independent body—they need to be clear and easy to apply, particularly at the community level where these 

clubs and organisations don't necessarily have access to legal advisers and the resources that might apply at the 

more elite professional level. 

CHAIR:  Following on from that, do you think that this confusion is impacting far more broadly than just 

across Australia but also internationally? 

Ms Setright:  I haven't been told that, so I wouldn't want to say one way or the other, other than the fact that I 

believe decisions were made by Cricket Australia to not incorporate the flag into the design of jerseys to be worn 

by representative teams who went on an international tour to the UK last year, I think. I think that's obviously a 

sad outcome, because again that's where sport can—I was going to say 'fly the flag'—be a real vehicle for national 

pride and for promoting things and at the international level. So if its use is also being curtailed in that forum then 

that's an unhappy outcome. Other than that anecdotal one, I don't have any evidence about its use, or decline of 

use, or impact overseas, sorry. 

Senator BRAGG:  Mr Moriarty, I just wanted to come back to this question of the creation or the 

commissioning of the flag, because there was some discussion during the last session about this. Did the flag 

emerge from discussions with what I think you called the Aboriginal Progress Association? Is that right? 

Mr Moriarty:  Yes. We were part of that body in Adelaide. We fought for Aboriginal rights, and we fought on 

the national level as well, and that's where we had the concept to bring it to Harold's attention, because he was in 

[inaudible] at that time, early in that time. That's a bit later; he was working in the museum. 

Senator BRAGG:  Okay. So, there was a group of Indigenous Australians working together on the Progress 

Association. It was an organic product of that association, in effect, was it? 

Mr Moriarty:  Just with a couple of us with a concept, with Macklin, Cooper and myself in the name, and 

then we spoke with Harold after consulting a lot of other people around the country during our national 

Indigenous local meetings, and conceptually we developed it that way and then put it on to Harold to finalise the 

design. 

Senator BRAGG:  Okay. That is terrific evidence to be able to receive, I must say. Is the paperwork that you 

have with you the original drafting, or the original framing? 

Mr Moriarty:  It was at that time that it was brought up, yes. 
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Senator BRAGG:  Yes, terrific. I'm sorry to be repetitious here, but we had some different views in the last 

session. Harold Thomas created the flag—is that right? 

Mr Moriarty:  He was the one that did the final—yes, he was the one that did it. 

Senator BRAGG:  He designed it? 

Mr Moriarty:  Yes. The concept— 

Senator BRAGG:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Sorry, Senator Bragg, I think Mr Moriarty was just adding some extra responses there. Mr Moriarty, 

did you want to just complete that sentence? 

Mr Moriarty:  It was finally in Harold's hands to do it, and we all acknowledge that. But we brought it to his 

attention—the flag concept—and he finalised it, yes. So we put it all on him, and we say that Harold should be 

recognised and be remunerated for any development of that concept or a legal way. 

CHAIR:  Can I just ask, in between Senator Bragg's questions, Mr Moriarty: was it ever recognised that there 

were more people involved with the concept of that design? 

Mr Moriarty:  No, not at that time. It was mainly in Adelaide. 

CHAIR:  Obviously you were all good friends back then, and I imagine you are still in touch, in discussions 

more recently around the flag, with Mr Thomas? 

Mr Moriarty:  No, I haven't been in touch with him, but people tell me about how he's going occasionally. 

You know what it's like with the blackfella messages. I hear he's still in Darwin area. 

CHAIR:  Okay. Senator Bragg. 

Senator BRAGG:  Finally, just to summarise your preferred position, you would like to see the national 

government take on the rights to the flag, make it available to everyone, and I assume have some sort of formal 

consultative mechanism with Indigenous Australians? 

Mr Moriarty:  Yes. 

Senator BRAGG:  Okay. Thank you very much for your evidence. That was really terrific.  

CHAIR:  Mr Moriarty, I might ask a few extra questions, following on from that, before we conclude. We've 

also had evidence provided to us from the Central Land Council and Aboriginal peak bodies around the concept 

of a national entity, a flag commission, that can perhaps be a custodian of the flag, should there be a good 

outcome in terms of negotiations around the flag. What are your thoughts on that? 

Mr Moriarty:  I'm of the viewpoint that we've come through some very difficult times in Aboriginal history in 

Australia. Developing that concept with Harold on the Aboriginal flag brought us through some very important 

stages, in my view, on the development of incorporating Aboriginals in the mainstream of Australian society. For 

us to lose that, I'd be disappointed, and I think that's part of that history of the flag, in my view. 

CHAIR:  In your opening comments, you made reference that Mr Thomas should be recognised and 

compensated through the best legal practice and also that the Commonwealth should have the right of this to 

acknowledge and fly the flag. So that's really where your position is on all of this, isn't it? 

Mr Moriarty:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  In relation to your own business and expertise as well—and I did put this question to Ms Setright—

do you understand whether this issue is impacting more broadly internationally? 

Mr Moriarty:  In my view, in those early days, I travelled to many countries, particularly where the 

indigenous people were, and throughout the US, parts of Canada and up to the Inuits, in Norway, Sweden, 

Denmark—in that area. I found in those days they had a difficult time in history, and it's related very closely to 

what we did here in Australia. That's when I thought that it's great that we have the Aboriginal flag, with all that 

history during those early days—I think that came through some difficult times and I think we should maintain 

that history in those early days, obviously in the future, to take very much strong support of what I said earlier 

about the Commonwealth government taking the licensing issue off the Aboriginal flag. 

CHAIR:  If negotiations are unsuccessful and the status quo remains, we have been receiving evidence from 

some witnesses that we should perhaps be looking at a new flag. Some would think that quite tragic and quite sad. 

What's your view on that suggestion? 

Mr Moriarty:  I am still a strong believer in maintaining the flag, as I mentioned, and the reasons why, and, if 

that's the way it goes and the Australian government is pushing for that, I will go along with it. 
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CHAIR:  Okay. Mr Moriarty and Ms Setright, thank you both for your time this afternoon in giving evidence 

to the inquiry. 

Ms Setright:  Thank you. 

Mr Moriarty:  Thank you. It's nice to see the Aboriginal people on the board here [inaudible] 

CHAIR:  Good to see you, too. We will suspend briefly while we connect with our next witnesses. 

Proceedings suspended from 14:33 to 14:45 
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DUNCAN, Mr Dean, President, Lloyd McDermott Rugby Development Team 

ELLIS, Ms Rieo, Melbourne Warriors 

SMITH, Mr Edward, Chairperson, Koori Knockout 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

CHAIR:  I welcome representatives from the Melbourne Warriors—whom I'm hoping will join us shortly—

the Lloyd McDermott Rugby Development Team Inc. and the Koori Knockout. Thank you all for taking the time 

to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary privilege has been provided to each of you and is 

available from the secretariat. The committee has received a submission from Aunty Rieo Ellis as submission 32 

and a submission from the Lloyd McDermott Rugby Development Team as submission 39. If you wish to make 

any amendments or corrections to your submissions, please let us know. Do you have anything to say about the 

capacity in which you appear today? You're welcome to make a brief opening statement. 

Mr Duncan:  I'm the President of the Lloyd McDermott Rugby Development Team. I'm a Kamilaroi man 

living on Wiradjuri country at the moment. 

Mr E Smith:  I'm the chairperson of the New South Wales Aboriginal Rugby League Koori Knockout 

governing body. I'm an Anaiwan man currently living in Newcastle on Awabakal land. Thanks for the invitation. 

CHAIR:  Not a problem. It's great to have you both on, and we're certainly hoping that we can be joined by Ms 

Ellis and Mr Ellis whilst we go through this part of the inquiry. I will go to Senator Davey first for questions. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you all for making the time to present to us today. 

CHAIR:  Senator Davey, my apologies. I see we've got Ms Ellis coming in, and I think I'll just interrupt you. 

Ms Ellis, I ask you to introduce yourself to the committee. If you have an opening statement, you're very welcome 

to make that opening statement before we go to questions from Senator Davey. You may just want to remove the 

mute from your video screen. 

Ms Ellis:  Okay. I'm learning new things with COVID this year. 

CHAIR:  We all are. 

Ms Ellis:  I'm here representing our community but more so, of late, our local football-netball thing, which this 

flag thing has really impacted a lot. We just want to say something about the flag not being put on our uniforms 

last year, our 20th anniversary, not only because we couldn't afford the extra payment to put it on but because of 

the principle. Why should we pay someone to benefit from something that's spiritually ours? That's how we see it. 

I think my community, my family—that's our cultural identity. We got our people to put me up to speak on behalf 

of them. It's a big mob. I think it's disgraceful. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. We look forward to hearing some more answers from you and we certainly appreciate 

having you and Mr Duncan and Mr Smith join us this afternoon. I'll go to the senators to ask some questions. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you all for appearing today and bringing us your stories. I'd like to understand—and 

I'll go to you, Ms Ellis, and then hear from others—I've read your submission and I understand the pride with 

which you wear your team's uniforms each year. So, you've been around for 20 years. Have you always 

incorporated the Aboriginal flag until this latest round? 

Ms Ellis:  Absolutely. As I said, it's our identity. And it's not just about putting the flag on our uniforms. We 

use that all year round. We use that flag all year, all our life. I'm just so surprised that something like this has 

actually been allowed to be privately owned by a big incorporated body. I work for the health service, and we can 

have it done, because we're a health provider. But little teams—as far as participation goes, they're not allowed to; 

they've got to pay that extra commission for this. And I just think it's so wrong. That's the people's flag, and I 

always thought—it's been over 40 years since that flag became the community's. I have a question: is there 

common law saying that it no longer belongs to the person who had a copyright to it? Is it now known as the 

community's, after, say, seven or 10 years? I don't know. I'm floundering here and trying to find ways that we can 

keep our flag for the community. We drape that on our people's coffins. There is a sense of pride. 

Senator DAVEY:  I understand, and I can understand how emotional this is for you, and I really do appreciate 

your coming here today to tell your stories. 

Ms Ellis:  And we don't make money off this; this is about us. This is about our identity. And I just think the 

government failed us, in our cultural belonging. 
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Senator DAVEY:  And I do appreciate and totally understand that your organisation is a voluntary 

organisation, and it's a very important organisation for your community. And this is not just about your 

organisation; this is about all of your organisations and— 

Ms Ellis:  It's about the whole community around Australia, about all Aboriginals around Australia. My little 

speech is just the tip of the iceberg, if you want to look around out there. I just think the government's let us down. 

Senator DAVEY:  I'm interested in that statement. We've heard from other witnesses as well—currently the 

copyright is held and owned by an Indigenous man, the artist who, as the High Court has recognised, designed the 

flag. And he has licensed it to these other bodies. Is it your position that the government should step in and take 

that copyright off him to free up the flag for wider use? What would your ideal situation be? 

Ms Ellis:  Absolutely. Free it up to the Aboriginal people of Australia. If the designer wanted to sell it willy-

nilly for $90-something thousand, that just goes to show that it isn't worth much to him. I have no respect. He 

didn't mind Cathy Freeman draping that flag over herself 20 years ago and not saying, 'That's not the community's 

flag.' He was saying that that belongs to the community. I really don't want the government to pay these white 

fellas anything. That's the Aboriginal flag. 

Senator DAVEY:  But what about the government paying the Indigenous artist who has the copyright? 

Ms Ellis:  I thought the other fellas had the copyright. 

Senator DAVEY:  He's entered licensing arrangements with the other fellas. 

Ms Ellis:  The thing is that we don't want to pay white fellas money. Why is it now that he wants to benefit off 

the flag, which never happened 20 years ago when Cathy freed it and things like that? 

Senator DAVEY:  I think that this is something that's coming out in this inquiry and in this process. Ever since 

the High Court determined copyright in 1997, when you purchase an Aboriginal flag—as you would have 

purchased the one behind you today—and you pay the cost to buy the flag, you have to pay a licence fee in that 

purchase. This is what we're discovering. Where it's really raised its head is that, recently, the new licensees for 

merchandise and for clothing are taking a very strict approach, and that's why I find it interesting. You say your 

manufacturer contacted you to say that you would have to pay an extra fee. Are you aware of how they were 

advised of that? 

Ms Ellis:  I presume that a cease and desist order was sent out to a lot of clothing companies. I'm only 

assuming, but he actually knew that he had to have permission from the clothing company to put the flag on our 

uniforms. When he said that we had to pay an extra percentage, it was a percentage that we didn't have. But, in 

principle, we still wouldn't haven't paid it, and we didn't. But he knew about it. We went to three different 

manufacturers, and the three of them told us that too. So it was a cease and desist order. 

Senator DAVEY:  So they've all been making it? 

Ms Ellis:  Yes. 

Senator DAVEY:  Is that the experience, Mr Smith and Mr Duncan, with your organisations? 

Ms Ellis:  Mr Duncan's not— 

Senator DAVEY:  Sorry; Mr Duncan is here. They're also on the conference call. 

CHAIR:  Sorry, Mrs Ellis. You're part of a panel with Mr Dean Duncan from the Lloyd McDermott Rugby 

Development Team and Mr Edward Smith from the Koori Knockout in New South Wales, so senators will be 

asking each of you questions. Senator Davey, is your question to Mr Duncan? 

Senator DAVEY:  And then Mr Smith. Have your organisations also had this sort of feedback about requiring 

a fee if you want to reproduce the flag on your uniforms? 

Mr Duncan:  The Lloyd McDermott Rugby Development Team under the auspice of Rugby Australia were 

made aware that Rugby Australia had received a cease and desist letter coming under the banner with the First 

Nations Rugby Committee, which essentially takes in all of our youth, boys' and girls' teams through to our senior 

teams. We were advised we would not be able to have the flag of any of our jerseys. We've actually had those 

images on our jerseys since our inception 25 years ago. It came to a head in May 2019 where we had to remove 

them from all of our jerseys. And we're talking about a national sport that takes in schoolkids as well. It was 

highlighted most prevalently in December last year, where we were for the first time invited to the World School 

Sevens rugby tournament and we sent a youth team of both boys and girls; however, we could not have the flags 

on those jerseys. 

Senator DAVEY:  And you're not aware of, prior to then, having to pay a licence fee to put the flag on your 

jerseys? 
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Mr Duncan:  No. We weren't made aware in any way, shape or form. As you can see by the shirt I'm wearing, 

we adapted the colours, as with a lot of our people across the nation. But what we've done that as, I suppose, a 

payout to not having the flag but retaining our identity. 

Senator DAVEY:  Mr Smith, is that the same with the Koori Knockout? 

Mr E Smith:  Yes. We were organising the Koori Knockout last year on the Central Coast. I think it was about 

March, April or May, we received an email from the clothing company that's got the copyrights, telling us that we 

need to notify all the teams they can't have the flag, or if they wanted the flag they've got to pay the extra costs 

and whatever else. But by then teams had already ordered their gear with the flag on it. So they said they were 

going come to the knockout and come around and have a look and see who's got it and fine everybody—so to 

prevent them from doing that and fining all the teams who may have it on their shirts and their guernseys, we just 

gave them $10,000 to stay away. 

Senator DAVEY:  Wow. That's no small amount for an small organisation such as yours. That's a lot of 

money. 

Mr E Smith:  And the thing is, as Aunt said earlier, every Aboriginal person thought we all owned that flag—

not just one person. So if he designed it, why did he design it? Did he design it just for himself? I remember when 

I was a young fella, we found a little flag and I got my mum to sew it on my footy shorts. They can't do that these 

days. They can't just put a little flag on their shorts or their shirt or anything, just to wear around. They'll get 

fined. Has it come now to where all our people have got to come together and design a new flag? 

Senator DAVEY:  Is that what you fear may happen if we don't find a resolution and a way forward? 

Mr E Smith:  As Aunt said earlier, we shouldn't be paying people to put our flag which we believed—which I 

grew up knowing—was ours. We shouldn't be paying anybody for that. It's like if, now, someone goes along and 

says, 'Oh, I own the Australian flag: now you can't fly it anywhere and you can't put it on your shirt or anything.' 

It's no different. 

Senator DAVEY:  I'm not sure if you're all aware, but the government has entered into negotiations with both 

the flag designer, Mr Thomas, and the existing licence-holders to try and negotiate a resolution. How would you 

feel about ensuring that Mr Thomas, as the Indigenous artist who owns the copyright, is respected and 

recompensed but we negotiated a way forward? Would that suit and satisfy the way that you all think we should 

proceed? 

Mr Duncan:  Senator, I think one of the things we've got to recognise is that yes, the designer or the copyright 

holder of the flag designed it, but the prominence of the flag was accepted by the people, by Aboriginal people, 

nationally. And that's where it has actually become ingrained within our own culture. It's synonymous with 

Aboriginal people. You see that flag, or you see the colours of red, black and yellow, and you identify very 

clearly what culture you're looking at. One of the things about recompensing someone for that is that we need to 

have a look at what other payments have previously been provided to him as well. I don't know whether it is 

correct or not but he may have been paid an amount of money under the old ATSIC days for the use of the image 

of the flag when he held it himself. If that's now been transferred for licensing to another company, he would still 

be receiving funds from the sale of each of those flags through Carroll and Richardson. It's not about an ongoing 

payment; it's about finding a resolution where the flag comes back to the people. 

We can't be answering to someone else about holding the flag. I've been lucky enough, I served in the military 

overseas, under the Australian flag, and I will stand up for that, but I will stand up just as much for my own flag—

that is the Aboriginal flag. We cannot be dictated to about when we can and when we can't wear the flag or hold 

the flag out. I've had young kids in teams come up and ask why the flags aren't on the jerseys. How do you say 

something to a young child, who you don't want to put into a political arena, about the facts, other than saying, 'At 

the moment we cannot put those on to the jerseys.' This is at an international level. 

The Lloyd McDermott Rugby Development Team supports Rugby Australia and all of our member 

organisations fully. It's with a heavy heart that the Wallabies, our national team, have had to remove both flags 

from our jerseys, even with the Rugby World Cup last year—one of the biggest global sporting competitions. It 

will happen again later this year against the Springboks, the All Blacks and the Argentinians. The new jersey, 

once again, will not have our flags on it. It will have a design, but not our flags. On the idea of paying money out 

again, I think we really need to investigate what payments have already been received and what arrangements are 

already in place as well. 

Senator DAVEY:  Okay. Thank you. That's all from me. Thank you all for coming. 

Senator DODSON:  Again, thank you all for coming along and giving us the benefit of your knowledge and 

experience in this matter. I think I missed something. Mr Duncan, I think mentioned that you paid someone some 
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money so they'd keep away from the competition, because they wanted you to take the flags off the jerseys or 

something? 

CHAIR:  That was Mr Smith with Koori Knockout. 

Senator DODSON:  What was the amount that was paid? 

Mr E Smith:  It was $10,000. Otherwise they were going to come around and fine each team for having the 

flag on there without their permission. 

Senator DODSON:  Thanks for clearing that up, Mr Smith. This is a question to you all: have any of you seen 

any document or contract or bit of paper that actually sets out that this company—WAM or whoever they are—

has the authority to do what they're doing? 

CHAIR:  Mr Duncan? 

Mr Duncan:  All I've seen is a cease and desist letter identifying an amount or a percentage that would need to 

be paid to WAM Clothing—Wooster and Moore. That was then advised to the Lloyd McDermott Rugby 

Development Team through the First Nations rugby council. 

CHAIR:  We did receive your submission, but we didn't receive a copy of that cease and desist letter. Is it 

possible that we could also receive a copy of that to the committee as well please? 

Mr Duncan:  I can check with Rugby Australia. They were making a separate submission under the 

professional sporting groups committee of all the major professional sporting groups in Australia. Although we 

come under the auspice of Rugby Australia, we've made this ourselves, but I will ask. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. 

Senator DODSON:  There are a lot of people who scam. We see on television every second night of the week 

someone who's got some scam up that's threatening some old person to give their money away. What's the 

authority apart from their own assertion that they've got a right to do this? 

Mr Duncan:  Senator Dodson, that's another question that I have as well. One of the owners of WAM Clothing 

previously owned other registered companies. One of them in particular was fined over $2 million within our 

court system for the production of fake Aboriginal art out of Indonesia. Yet he is now one of the directors of 

WAM Clothing, which has sent out these cease-and-desist letters. He is one of the figureheads of the company 

that continues to do this to our people. How can someone who has been ordered to pay money but has never paid 

a cent—the company folded immediately after the court order of $2.8 million for the production of the fake art—

tell us as a people that we can't use the image of the flag on our clothing and that we can't promote ourselves 

under the flag? How can we be told that by a non-Aboriginal person? 

Senator DODSON:  Do you know if there's any authority pursuing this matter? Has it just fallen by the 

wayside because the company has been dissolved? How does someone who's got a ruling against them just walk 

away from meeting the debt? 

Mr Duncan:  That's a question I suppose the courts would have to follow up. It's very widely known. You only 

have to do a search under the former company, Birubi Art, and Gifts Mate—two companies he's owned 

previously. It's the same person. He was identified very clearly on a 60 Minutes report, he was fronted by the 

reporters, but he walked away from the debt and is now operating WAM Clothing. 

Senator DODSON:  Do you know if any authority or the government is pursuing this matter? 

Mr Duncan:  No. I'm unaware of any action. 

Senator DODSON:  I'll just come back to my original question. Ms Ellis or Mr Smith, have you seen any 

definitive document that gives these people the authority to do what they're doing? 

CHAIR:  Sorry, can I just step in. Can I ask Ms Ellis to answer that question first, and then I'll call you, Mr 

Smith. 

Ms Ellis:  No, I haven't seen any, but we have a campaign down here called Free the Flag and we trust that the 

people running that campaign have met with WAM and met with Mr Thomas et cetera. I believe it is a real threat 

that we will be fined or penalised for using the flag and things like that, without the citing of some sort of legal 

document which gives WAM the right to say this. We believe our campaign leader, Laura Thompson, in saying 

that this is a big threat to us. It shouldn't be happening. It's an injustice to our people. It just shouldn't be 

happening. It's like denial about traditional rights. People might say, 'It's just a flag'—it's just this, it's just that. To 

them it may be, but to a big, big mob of people it's not; it's our identity. It's sometimes looked upon as a tool for 

political agendas. That's the way we love it and the way we want it, because you look at the meaning of it and 

people have taken that on. 
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Now I'm just understanding that there's copyright and then there's licensing. Can the government do something 

about the licensing of our flag? I don't know about recompense; I just know that it's wrong. 

I believe our campaign leader down here. She's met with a lot of people. I think she's brought things up to 

government. But she's heard me; we take all our concerns to her. She said, 'Aunty, why don't you go on here?' I 

said: 'If it means anything. If it's going to be taken somewhere by the government or the senators, or something 

like that.' Where would it sit?' Even children in out-of-home care with non-Aboriginal carers—how do they 

maintain their Aboriginal cultural plan? You walk into the house of non-Aboriginal people and there's always that 

flag. That's the identity of the people. Even the Stolen Gen mob, who were coming in and saying this, were 

always wearing a jumper with the flag on it. It means so much. It's not just a Nike tick: it's a flag; it means our 

life; it means our community. Senator Dodson, I haven't seen a document, per se, but I believe there is one out 

there. We were told by our clothing manufacturers that we cannot put the flag on unless we pay a percentage. Us 

grassroots mob said, 'Well, you can go and jump.' It means a lot to us. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you for that, Ms Ellis—that's very valuable. Mr Smith, did you want to say 

something? 

Mr E Smith:  I just found the document they sent me. I'm going to send it through now. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Smith. Is that a cease and desist letter that you're sending through to the committee? 

Mr E Smith:  It's the notice of potential consumer— 

CHAIR:  Would you like to read that document? I'm not sure how long it is. 

Mr E Smith:  It's got here: 

NOTICE TO POTENTIAL CONSUMER COPYRIGHT OF ABORIGINAL FLAG 

We, WAM Clothing, confirm that we are the Authorised Agent for Mr Harold Thomas. Mr Thomas is the owner of the 

copyright in the Works known as the Aboriginal flag including any variation thereof in whole or part, derivation or variation 

of the Work pursuant to the Copyright Act 1968 (Cth). 

WAM is also the exclusive licensee for use of the Aboriginal Flag on clothing. 

Any use of the Aboriginal Flag on clothing without our consent or agreement is prohibited. 

If you do wish to use the Aboriginal Flag on clothing, we invite you to contact us to discuss: 

1. The printing of the flag on clothing through our preferred manufacturers; or 

2. You maintaining your present manufacturer to continue to print the flag on clothing, on terms with WAM. 

If you are currently using the Aboriginal Flag on clothing or have orders with manufacturers for clothing which incorporates 

the Aboriginal Flag, you are required to contact us immediately. 

Alternatively, if you would like to use the Aboriginal Flag on clothing, please contact us to discuss possible options. 

Regards, 

Management 

WAM Clothing Pty Ltd 

CHAIR:  Senator Dodson. 

Senator DODSON:  Thanks, Mr Smith. Can I ask whether you got a receipt for your payment to WAM? 

Mr E Smith:  I'll check that out. We should have one. 

Senator DODSON:  If you do have one, could you forward that to our committee, please? 

Mr E Smith:  Yes, definitely. I'll get on to that straight away. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you. I don't think I've got any further questions. The committee is set up to 

obviously hear what your concerns are and to take them onboard. The government, as you know, is trying to 

negotiate some arrangement. We've heard a lot of people's concerns and we understand that there's a lot of 

sentiment in the Aboriginal community. Thank you for coming along. 

CHAIR:  Mr Smith, just to finish that line of questioning from Senator Dodson—you are still sending through 

that document to the secretariat, aren't you? 

Mr E Smith:  Yes. I've sent it just then. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much. I'll go now to Senator Thorpe. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, everyone, for participating today. I certainly know what the flag means to 

community and me as an Aboriginal woman. So it's a difficult time for a lot of our mob at the moment. I want to 

reiterate that Harold Thomas is the copyright holder who then has licensed the flag to three non-Aboriginal 

organisations or companies that make money from the flag. We've heard in this inquiry evidence from Aboriginal 
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people expressing concern that, if a government compulsorily acquired the copyright—basically, if it came in and 

took the copyright off Mr Thomas—it might also mirror other shameful instances of government control over 

Aboriginal people's lives and property, like stolen wages, land seizures, the stolen generation and so on. Do you 

have a view on Commonwealth government ownership of the flag, whether it be via copyright or the licences, 

meaning Harold Thomas could still hold the copyright but the licence would then go to the Australian 

government? I'm asking for your views around that kind of an idea going forward. 

Mr Duncan:  I think one of the best ways is for us to treat the Aboriginal flag as exactly the same way as we 

treat the Australian flag itself. Have it covered under the national Flags Act and make it available to everyone 

completely free of charge. I know that you can go to any of our federal members' offices and request flags directly 

off them. There is no cost to it. Why should we as a people be held to ransom to pay for the image of a flag and 

the flag itself from someone else when the flag should be covered? It's one of those things where, if we don't 

cover it under the same conditions and regulations as the Australian flag, it will continue to generate funding for 

people. It's not about identifying the government as holding it anymore; it's just making the available as freely as 

the Australian flag. We want the same rights and same conditions as every other citizen of Australia. In this case 

it's just around the Aboriginal flag. 

Ms Ellis:  I will show you the flag we get because we're providing a health service. This is what we get. They 

say, 'Because you're a providing health program, you can put the flag on your shirt.' Have a look at the size of it. 

That's it. That's right on the top there. That's what we're allowed for free from WAM. It is absolutely disgusting 

and unacceptable. I'm trying to work out how we get the government to change the licensing laws insofar as they 

are about the importance of the flag. Under the national Flags Act, with that flag under there—money shouldn't 

change hands to the detriment of our people. I'm no legal eagle. I'm no academic. I'm not a political agent. I'm a 

person. I'm a grandmother. I'm me and I am a community member that was proud of this flag when it came along. 

We were out in the bush, running around with nothing that we could show that identified with our Aboriginality, 

and then this flag came up in the seventies, and—bang—we went with us. Nobody told us to hold back on it. 

Nobody told us, 'Stop saying it's your flag.' I don't know where Mr Thomas was going with it then and what's 

happening with it now—whether he's getting money from the licensed person, I don't know—but, seriously, it's 

about money changing hands, and sometimes it's about money we haven't got. It's absolutely unacceptable. 

But yes; that's the size of our free flag—if you can see it! 

Senator THORPE:  Mr Smith, did you want to comment? 

Mr E Smith:  I agree with Aunty. We all grew up Aboriginal people. It was everybody's flag, Not one person 

owned it. Maybe this man designed it, but we all come under that flag, and it shouldn't be used for money reasons 

or whatever else. It's the First People's flag. We need to find a way to get it back. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. This question has also come about during the inquiry from witnesses and 

submissions. It's a hypothetical. There has been some discussion around a potential independent Aboriginal body, 

rather than the government, that looks after the flag. What are your thoughts on that? 

Mr E Smith:  Would it be an independent panel of Aboriginal people. 

Senator THORPE: It would be Aboriginal people, so community control. 

Mr E Smith:  Yes, it should be under community control by Aboriginal people. Exactly. I agree with that. 

Senator THORPE:  As opposed to the government? If you had two options and one was that the government 

take ownership by taking either copyright or the licence, and the other option of Aboriginal community control 

was also available, what would your preferred option be? 

Mr E Smith:  The Aboriginal community control. 

Ms Ellis:  Yes. 

Mr E Smith:  That's how it should be. It should be Aboriginal controlled. Too much we've been controlled by 

the government. This is what we all want. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. Mr Duncan? 

Mr Duncan:  I think you're right in that we do have to make a decision, and Aboriginal community control is a 

step towards self-determination for our people—looking after the image of the flag and what the flag represents 

for us as a people nationally. At the same time, we've got to make sure that we get clear direction from our own 

people, not from the government, and have the government back us up at the same time. Protect our right as a 

people, as the First Nations people of this country, to self-determine how we use the flag. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. Ms Ellis, did you want to comment? 
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Ms Ellis:  Yes. It feels like there looms a dictatorship over our flag. I'd rather see it in Aboriginal hands with 

the view that the government sorts this out, because it's devastating. It really is. You all know how important it is 

to us. But I'd like to see the government say something about the licensing. If he's got that and can just sell it to 

WAM, what's to stop somebody—say, the government—doing the same? Do you know what I mean? If there 

could be something done about the licensing—and he's already designed it. There's talk amongst the Aboriginal 

community in regard to whether he really designed that flag. Was there somebody else involved there? 

That was the yarn around it that I had in the seventies with people that I knew. We still have a little laugh about it. 

I'd been around to talk about the flag with some of my colleagues when this question came up. But the point is I'd 

like to see the government step in and say to WAM: 'Stop dictating to the people who have the flag. That's their 

flag.' It seems simple to me, but let's explore it a bit more, which I guess is going to happen. Thank you. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you very much. 

CHAIR:  I might just finish up with a couple of questions. Mr Smith, can I just go to you in relation to your 

evidence on the cost. You said $10,000. Will you be using the flag on jerseys in future competitions? 

Mr E Smith:  I won't pay to get the flag that our people own. I won't pay for it. 

CHAIR:  And that's because of— 

Mr E Smith:  If it comes back into our hands, it will be on our jerseys. I won't pay some non-Indigenous 

person for it. 

CHAIR:  So, as it currently stands, it means that the Koori Knockout and the teams involved in it will no 

longer have the flag on their uniforms? 

Mr E Smith:  Well, I can't speak for the other teams. If they want to pay that extra money to get the flag put on 

their jerseys, that's up to them. 

Ms Ellis:  In our NAIDOC carnivals down here, some teams have paid and some haven't. Some haven't simply 

because they don't have the money and some haven't because of the principle. It's a big thing with our carnival, 

but I'm thinking about, prior to the carnival, so our T-shirts, our jumpers and everything like that—we want to 

wear our flag freely and not be dictated to about when, how and why. 

CHAIR:  Thanks, Ms Ellis. 

Mr Duncan:  And, through the chair— 

CHAIR:  Sorry, just a minute, Mr Duncan and then I'll come back to you. Mr Smith, with the email you've 

sent through, does it make reference to the $10,000 fee and how it came about with that as well? 

Mr E Smith:  No, it doesn't. That was before the carnival that weekend. 

CHAIR:  Okay, so how was the $10,000 fee reached? Was that just a number that was said to you? 

Mr E Smith:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  Was it explained? 

Mr E Smith:  It was something we'd come to an agreement—we had over 154 teams there on that weekend. If 

they'd walked around the carnival— 

CHAIR:  Sorry, who walked around? You did? 

Mr E Smith:  If WAM Clothing had come in on that long weekend of the knockout, if they'd walked around 

the carnival that weekend, they'd have got a lot of teams and they were talking about fining them $5,000 each. 

CHAIR:  So just help me out here— 

Mr E Smith:  To prevent them from coming in and fining everybody, our people, we came to an agreement of 

$10,000 to not come in. 

CHAIR:  That was so they didn't, but did they give a breakdown as to how they reached the $10,000? 

Mr E Smith:  Not offhand, no. 

CHAIR:  They just said, 'This is what it's going to cost.' 

Mr E Smith:  That was the agreement we came to, yes. 

CHAIR:  I wanted to clarify that, as to how that was reached, whether there were some mathematical numbers 

put together over shirts and shorts or anything like that. Thank you. Mr Duncan, over to you. You wanted to put 

something to the committee. 

Mr Duncan:  Thank you, Chair. I was going to reply to your answer about moving forward with future 

competitions and the use of jerseys et cetera. With the Lloyd McDermott Rugby Development Team, working 
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with Rugby Australia and also all the member unions, a decision was made, in consultation with our board, who 

were representatives of the Aboriginal rugby community nationally, that we would not be proceeding with having 

the flags on any of our jerseys. The great thing for us is that our governing body, Rugby Australia, made the 

decision to support us. They removed the flags from the Wallabies jersey. We then saw the flow-on effect of that 

with our member unions or state unions, with the Queensland Reds, New South Wales Waratahs, ACT Brumbies 

all removing the flag from their representative jerseys as well, most recently during in the Super 15 Indigenous 

round. 

We engaged with our people to design the images on the jerseys, but we do not incorporate the flag at any 

stage, and we won't be doing that in the near future. You will see in the upcoming rugby championships against 

other international countries a beautifully designed jersey, but without the flag. That's something that we, as a 

First Nations rugby committee, completely support Rugby Australia's stance on. We won't change it. It goes all 

the way down to our schoolkids; they can't play in a jersey with the flag on it. Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Mr Duncan, Ms Ellis and Mr Smith, thank you all for your presence here this afternoon and for 

sharing with us your stories of your respective sports and communities. We certainly appreciate it as a committee. 

Thank you for your time this afternoon. 

Mr E Smith:  Thanks very much. 

Ms Ellis:  Thank you, Chair; thank you senators. 

Mr Duncan:  Thanks very much. 
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JANKE, Mr John Paul, Co-Chair, National NAIDOC Committee 

PIPER, Ms Stacie, Chairperson, Victorian NAIDOC Committee  

WALKER, Mr Maurice, Chairperson, Canberra and District NAIDOC Corporation 

Evidence from Mr Janke and Ms Piper was taken via teleconference— 

[15:44] 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary 

privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. You are welcome to make a brief opening 

statement before we go to questions. 

Mr Walker:  I just want to acknowledge that we're on Ngunawal country. I am happy to be of assistance 

today. 

Mr Janke:  I am a Wuthathi man from Cape York Peninsula and a Meriam man from the Torres Strait. I'd like 

to make a quick opening statement not only to set out some of the comments I've outlined in my submission but 

also to correct some of the comments I've heard over the last couple of weeks in relation to NAIDOC and the 

issue of the NAIDOC poster. 

Let me thank you for being able to provide a submission today. Sadly, I'm not the Janke sibling that's been 

referred to by so many speakers during their submissions—that's my sister Terri. We've always had a bit of a 

sibling rivalry! 

CHAIR:  We certainly look forward to listening to her tomorrow. 

Mr Janke:  Importantly, I want to open by acknowledging the Aboriginal nations whose traditional country we 

are all gathered on, and I acknowledge the Torres Strait Islanders' ongoing ownership and custodianship across 

the north. The National NAIDOC Committee is a voluntary committee independent of government that operates 

within the portfolio of the National Indigenous Australians Agency. We determine the arrangements for National 

NAIDOC Week celebrations each year; the list of the more specific roles we do is in our submission. 

Importantly, I want to correct some of the comments that have been presented in submissions over the last 

couple of days in relation to the NAIDOC poster. The National NAIDOC Committee has not removed the flags 

from its poster; in fact, the flags only appear on the poster when it appears in the artwork. When it does, we 

contact both Mr Thomas and the Torres Strait shire council for permission to use both their flags. We didn't speak 

to Harold Thomas this year; in fact WAM Clothing did not tell NAIDOC that they would have exclusive 

merchandising rights for the use of the flag. WAM had suggested a few options for us to use the flag on posters, if 

we wanted to, but NAIDOC had already committed to using an Indigenous business to provide those same 

services. We didn't explore any further arrangements on the Aboriginal flag or any existing arrangements or 

agreements that the NIAA might have with WAM. 

We proudly acknowledge that the Aboriginal flag was first flown on National Aborigines Day on Kaurna 

country in Adelaide, on Friday 9 July 1971. As we've highlighted in our submission, this date has been incorrectly 

documented over the last few decades, including in the 2008 explanatory statement issued for the official 

proclamation, as occurring on Monday 12 July 1971. As you know National Aborigines Day was the second 

Friday in July, and 12 July 1971 was a Monday. We want to put on the public record that this needs to be 

corrected. We also acknowledge the Federal Court's 1997 determination that Mr Thomas is the author of the 

Aboriginal flag and the owner of the copyright of the flag. As such, we support Mr Thomas's rights under the 

Copyright Act 1968. 

We do endorse a greater ability for individuals, communities and organisations to use the Aboriginal flag for 

non-commercial purposes that may currently fall within the licences currently nominated by Harold Thomas. We 

do not support the compulsory acquisition of the copyright under the flag into the Constitution of Australia. We 

believe that the federal government should negotiate the purchase or acquire a non-commercial irrevocable 

worldwide licence, like that purchased by ATSIC in December 2001. 

We believe that there are opportunities to maybe secure a non-commercial licence similar to that of ATSIC's. If 

that licence was just for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, its use could be defined by specifying 

Indigenous organisations or groups established under the CATSI Act. Like the ATSIC agreement of 2001, it 

could specify that it is for any non-commercial use associated with their performance or functions. If the CATSI 

Act was used, it would allow some 3,325 Indigenous organisations to use the flag—to reproduce it in logos, 

clothing, branding, online et cetera—consistent with their core functions. The agreement could also be extended 

to Australian charities and not-for-profits under the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission register, 
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when they are promoting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander activities. It could also be used to cover sporting 

things; the agreement could afford something like emblem use, so that the flag could be used on sporting apparel 

as an emblem and not feature in the main artwork. The non-commercial licence would still allow Harold Thomas 

to enjoy his economic and moral rights with those seeking to use the flag for commercial purposes, both 

Indigenous and non-Indigenous orgs. 

Importantly, we believe that Indigenous people maintaining oversight and application of the Aboriginal flag, as 

occurs with the Torres Strait Islander flag, is highly important. The Aboriginal flag has appeared on several 

NAIDOC posters since the 1970s, and Mr Thomas has never denied NAIDOC use of the flag. In recent years he 

has allowed us to reproduce the Aboriginal flag on printed posters and online at no cost. We receive the same 

permissions from the owner of the Torres Strait Islander flag. 

We believe that completely freeing the flag, like the Australian flag, as someone suggested, could lead it to be 

exploited for commercial gain by non-Indigenous businesses, particularly foreign businesses. We are witnessing 

that across the country with Indigenous artists. Currently the artwork for the 2020 national NAIDOC poster, by a 

23-year-old WA artist, is being used by overseas companies who are reproducing it on shower screens, hats, 

doonas, caps, blankets, mats, towels—you name it. This is not fake art; this is theft. We believe sending the flag 

into the public domain means everyone in the world can do whatever they want with it, and even Mr Thomas's 

moral rights would evaporate. 

We strongly support the ongoing dialogue with Mr Thomas to resolve this issue but acknowledge that these are 

sensitive discussions. We believe Mr Thomas should be acknowledged and respected as the creator of the 

Aboriginal flag but also acknowledge that Indigenous Australians have such a strong link to a flag that is linked to 

their political, social and cultural identity. Attacks on social media and in the public arena on Mr Thomas's 

credibility, reputation and commitment to his people, and even his contribution to social justice, have been 

excessive and unnecessary. Media misreporting and mischievous comments from individuals to inflame the 

situation have also contributed to the community's anguish and confusion over the rights to the flag. 

I support Dr Langton's remark this morning on the need for a proper history of the flag to be published; maybe 

that's a role for NAIDOC to play. Each year in NAIDOC Week we unfurl it as a source of pride, mark of survival, 

sign of our strength and celebration of our unique identity. The Aboriginal flag and the Torres Strait Islander flag 

do the same 365 days of the year. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you to everyone who has come to participate in this very important discussion 

about the Aboriginal flag. We've heard evidence that, because of the licensing issue use, the flag is being used less 

and less not just by services but by community. Have you noticed any changes in how community are engaging 

with the flag generally? That question is to the whole panel. 

Mr Janke:  I haven't heard of any less usage of the flag. I think there's been confusion over whether people can 

fly the flag or wear the flag and their free use of the flag. In my network, I haven't heard of any less use of the 

flag. 

Mr Walker:  I probably would concur with Mr Janke's statement. The only thing that is noticeable is the 

discussion that's going on in the community about the use of the flag—when and where we can use it. I think that 

anxiety is causing some issues and a bit of anger. John was talking before about the history of the flag and if that 

could be publicised a bit more it might give some people an opportunity to learn the history of the flag and who 

actually designed the flag and some of that history around what has happened over the last few years and how it's 

come to this point and it might clear that up in the community. Like John said, I haven't heard anything around 

people not using the flag. I think we're still proud of the fact that we wear the colours and the flag as a symbol of 

our identity. 

Senator THORPE:  Hypothetically speaking, would the panel be supportive of an Aboriginal community 

controlled organisation owning the licence over the use of the flag and how might that impact on the various 

NAIDOC organisations? 

CHAIR:  Senator Thorpe, I might go to Ms Piper and ask her to give an opening statement. Ms Piper, are you 

able to do that? 

Ms Piper:  Sure. Thank you very much. I'm a Wurundjeri, Dja Dja Wurrung and Ngurai-Illam Wurrung 

woman from Naarm, or Melbourne, in Victoria. I'm the chairperson of the Victorian NAIDOC Committee. I'm 

also a Djirri Djirri cultural dancer and educator. For me, obviously, my purpose here is talking on behalf of our 

Victorian NAIDOC Committee. I obviously don't speak for everybody, and the committee will understand that 

there are a lot of differing views, but at this stage, even with the question that Lidia just asked, we have noticed a 

difference in the use of the flag. As a committee we always sought permission from Harold Thomas to use the 
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flag on any of our merchandise or in the way we used it. We'd had that permission from Harold, which was 

fantastic. We don't profit from merchandise; it's just T-shirts and jumpers and beanies that are sold at the march, 

so people can wear their colours and their pride.  

As a result of what's come about through the copyright issue and the division that seems to be causing, we 

opted not to use the flag on our merchandise last year, even though we did have permission from Harold Thomas 

as long as it was not for general commercial use, which it's not, but we still opted not to. So for us it's definitely 

affected the use of the flag. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Piper. We'll go to questions from senators. 

Senator THORPE:  I'll go back to that initial question. Hypothetically speaking, would the panel be 

supportive of an Aboriginal community controlled organisation owning the licence, over the use of the flag, and 

how might this impact various NAIDOC organisations? 

Mr Janke:  Senator, I'm happy to go first. As suggested in our paper, we believe that the National NAIDOC 

Committee could play a part in that. We're one of the only committees that have lasted, since the 1970s, through 

the various changes and machinations of the Indigenous affairs portfolio. So we believe we could, potentially, 

play a part in that. As you'd know, NAIDOC, once upon a time, was an elected structure, where state and territory 

affiliates were on a national committee. That was abolished in the early 1990s. We believe and we've suggested to 

the agency that NAIDOC could play a part in some part of a solution or be part of the dialogue with Mr Thomas 

to make sure that that licence, if it's a non-commercial licence, is with an Aboriginal or Indigenous entity. 

Mr Walker:  As far as the ACT committee is concerned, I think what would worry us is the amount of money 

it might cost to secure the use of the Aboriginal flag, for many organisations, whether it be community controlled 

or NAIDOC. If we were under NAIDOC it might be a different kind of agreement, because we don't attract that 

much money at our local level to be putting money aside to buy copyright, the rights to use the flag. That's 

probably only our issue.  

With the initial question, I don't have a problem with a community organisation owning the rights or 

distributing the rights to the flag. 

CHAIR:  Ms Piper, do you care to respond to Senator Thorpe's question? 

Ms Piper:  Not at this stage. It's great that NAIDOC could, potentially, be an advocate and support the process, 

but I still need to get a better understanding of how that would look. 

Senator THORPE:  Ms Piper, I'm just picking up on your point of getting permission from Mr Thomas to use 

the Aboriginal flag if it was—sorry, my phone's ringing. 

CHAIR:  Would you like to answer that call, Senator Thorpe? 

Senator THORPE:  Hotel quarantine— 

CHAIR:  Hotel quarantining—okay! 

Senator THORPE:  Sorry! So my question is: how did you gain permission from Mr Thomas without having 

to go through the licensees—say, WAM and others? And is that agreement with Mr Thomas still valid today? 

Ms Piper:  We have an email trail that goes back to 2016, and it was through a third party by the name of 

Paul—I'd have to go back and get the spelling of his surname, and the pronunciation! In the technology, we went 

through a third party to have someone help facilitate those conversations. It was somebody who reached out to 

Harold and then came back and said, 'Yes, Harold has agreed to this, as long as it's not'—and there was a little 

statement on the conditions, and then that was it. It was pretty straightforward. It was, obviously, honouring that 

statement—that it's not a commercial endeavour; it's for community purpose, and it's a seasonal thing, just during 

NAIDOC Week. I probably didn't answer your question directly! But, yes, it wasn't a formal process. It's in an 

email trail through a third party. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. I wonder, Chair, if we could request a copy of those emails so we can get a 

better idea of how another arrangement has been made to utilise the flag at no cost? 

CHAIR:  Sure, Senator Thorpe. Ms Piper, would you care to table those documents to the Senate committee so 

that we can view those documents, please? 

Ms Piper:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. I just have one final question and it's for Mr Janke. If, for argument's sake, the 

National NAIDOC Committee were in caretaker mode with the flag or had ownership of the flag, would you see a 

differentiation between the commercial use of the flag by actual businesses, in comparison to Aboriginal 
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community organisations and even non-Aboriginal commercial organisations? Have you got an idea of set fees or 

how that would look? 

Mr Janke:  Not really. At the moment it's at a very conceptual stage. It depends on what licence the federal 

government is able to secure. So, at the moment, we're saying a non-commercial licence. That would still allow 

Mr Thomas and licensees to have their commercial rights to that material. If they grant both licenses, then that 

would be a different sort of structure. But, yes, I think there would have to be a sliding scale of fees, focused on 

community organisations and how much they want to use the flag or on multinational companies that want to use 

the flag. 

One of the concepts I put in the paper is this: at NAIDOC we've been talking for a couple of months about 

getting NAIDOC up as a not-for-profit company that could have a foundation or a trust, in the hope of attracting 

and securing more corporate funding, for the fees of the flag to be offset in terms of celebration of culture, to 

promote Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander culture, from that NAIDOC foundation. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. No further questions from me, Chair. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Senator Thorpe. Senator Davey, I give you the call. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you all for appearing before us today. Mr Janke, you said that completely freeing the 

flag could lead to it being exploited. We've heard from various witnesses. Some witnesses would like to see it 

completely released so that it would then be like the Australian flag, which is [inaudible] but it also can be 

reproduced [inaudible] for either commercial or community use. Can you explain your concerns about that level 

of release? 

Mr Janke:  My concern echoes the comments of one of your very first speakers in this inquiry. He said that, 

once you put the flag out into the public domain, you lose control of it. Our fear is that it would be like what's 

happening with Indigenous art and the work of artists. It's being exploited and used by overseas companies. They 

are selling artwork online at very high prices. People are buying it. There's kind of no way to stop this. You can 

send cease-and-desist letters, but they're overseas companies and people are buying these products from overseas. 

We think that there's a real chance that artworks, like the Aboriginal flag, could be similar to those [inaudible]. 

Senator DAVEY:  You've acknowledged the Torres Strait Islanders. The Torres Strait Island Regional 

Council manages the use and reproduction of the Torres Strait flag. When you talk about the potential for the 

government to acquire a non-commercial licence, are you imagining an organisation such as that would then 

become the manager to ensure that legitimate community organisations are using it, so it would be similar to that 

regional council approval structure? I'm not sure [inaudible] and you've suggested that NAIDOC could be that 

body, hypothetically speaking. 

Mr Janke:  In my submission I've nominated that the NAIDOC Week logo is available through a creative 

commons licence through the NAIDOC website. Anyone can download that and use that on a set of agreed 

principles that are available under creative commons—that is, it's for a non-commercial use and that you won't 

alter the image or use it in a disparaging way. We believe that there could be elements of the creative commons 

licence available for use of the Aboriginal flag for non-commercial purposes. The challenge for any small 

organisation—and you might get this answer when you talk to the Torres Strait Island Regional Council—is how 

they become the sheriff and police the inappropriate use of that material or that artwork. I don't know whether the 

Torres Strait Island council has the resources to do that. That would be a challenge for any organisation—how do 

you actually police the inappropriate use where it might venture into commercial use, altering the image or 

derogatory use of the artwork? It's a challenge I think to find the resources to sheriff that. 

Senator DAVEY:  They seem to be doing quite a good job. You mentioned that you still have the flag on your 

posters this year; is that correct? 

Mr Janke:  No. We don't put the Aboriginal flag or the Torres Strait Islander flag on our posters. They only 

appear on the NAIDOC posters when they're used in the winning artwork. The way the posters work is that we 

have a national competition and someone designs a piece of art that becomes the NAIDOC poster. The prize is 

$10,000. If that image features the Aboriginal flag or the Torres Strait Islander flag, we seek permission to use 

that either from Harold Thomas, from the family of Bernard Namok or from the Torres Strait regional council. 

Senator DAVEY:  So you go to them both? 

Mr Janke:  Yes. 

Senator DAVEY:  That's all I have for the moment. Thanks. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Senator Davey. I want to follow that line of questioning. Mr Janke, do you go to both 

because of cultural protocols? 
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Mr Janke:  We go to both because we want to seek permission from all those whose images appear on the 

poster. Even if the winning artwork contains caricatures or portraits of individuals, we would seek their 

permission to appear on the NAIDOC poster. Last year we printed 80,000 NAIDOC posters and this year we're 

printing over 200,000 posters, so we like to make sure that we have got everyone's permission to appear on that 

poster. 

CHAIR:  Is that because of a legal concern or is it also about cultural respect? 

Mr Janke:  We believe it's the right thing to do to seek permission for any artwork that might appear on the 

poster. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Senator Dodson, you have the call. 

Senator DODSON:  Good afternoon, people. Have any of you received or seen these cease-and-desist notices 

from WAM? 

Mr Janke:  I haven't received a cease-and-desist. I have seen notifications from WAM, but not cease-and-

desists for individuals or organisations. 

Ms Piper:  The Victorian NAIDOC Committee have not received one, but, as mentioned, we opted not to use 

the flag on our [inaudible] last year in order to [inaudible]. 

Mr Walker:  None in the ACT either. 

Senator DODSON:  Is there any particular reason you think you may not have been issued with one of these 

notices? 

Mr Walker:  The ACT group actually don't put any flags or anything on our apparel. As I said before, our 

purse isn't all that well-endowed, so we don't get an opportunity to produce clothing. If we do, it's usually with 

permission from the national committee to use the NAIDOC emblem with the words identifying our jurisdiction. 

Senator DODSON:  Mr Janke, given the support for the artist's copyright—I think that's your position—then 

is he within his rights to enter into arrangements with whomever he wishes? 

Mr Janke:  That's my understanding of the Copyright Act. 

Senator DODSON:  So in this case you would defend Mr Thomas's rights to enter into the agreement he has 

made with WAM? Does that follow? 

Mr Janke:  Yes. We support his ability as the copyright holder to grant licences to any individual or company 

as he sees fit. 

Senator DODSON:  How do you see then the community's expression of their rights or interests in the flag 

butting up against this legal arrangement that Mr Thomas and WAM have? 

Mr Janke:  I see it as a very difficult issue for the community to continue using the Aboriginal flag but not to 

be supportive of a company whose previous dealings have been inappropriate. So I see it as a question for 

individual communities to talk about and debate and have their own answers for. 

Senator DODSON:  I think many of them are doing that. Some of them have put suggestions to this 

committee that they are not going to use the flag anymore. They think it's time to develop another flag. Do any of 

you have a comment on that? 

Ms Piper:  It's a really interesting question, I think, because there's a lot of mob who have differing views, and 

it'd be really great to have our own mob flags or clan flags. It's obviously a really big discussion. That's actually a 

really exciting prospect. But that's probably something more in the hands of treaty. We're really thinking about 

treaty at the moment and how that looks. This is just a big beast really. In the meantime, the flag is something 

that's our identity. It's how we identify. Me being a curator in my daily life, obviously artists' rights are really 

important and copyright is really important. We need to really talk about that on a deeper level. 

Mr Walker:  As I said earlier, the flag is an iconic image that we've been flying for the last 50 years, and it's 

going to be hard for community to accept another flag, even though there is the prospect of designing something 

new, based on the anger that's been raised in the community around not being able to use the current flag. As I 

said, in the ACT we've got young people here in our community who love wearing the flag. I don't think that's 

going to change, because they're not aware of the ramifications if they're being told not to wear the flag. It's a hard 

thing for community to readjust to that. But I think there will be an opportunity if people are asked to design 

something else. It might be good. 

Mr Janke:  My hope is that the federal government is able to secure a worldwide, irrevocable, non-

commercial right. Depending on what sort of criteria are put in that agreement, that would free the flag up so that 

the majority of our community as individuals could use the flag. The commercial use of the flag, where people 
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use it to make profit, is a different matter. But freeing up the flag seems to be the tip of the arrow. If you go back 

to the ATSIC agreement, people were able to use the flag for a variety of platforms, but it was still within their 

core functions and it was for non-commercial purposes. The difference now between 1990 and 2020 is that we've 

got a lot more Indigenous businesses who want to use the flag, whether they want to use it for commercial 

purposes or other purposes. I think that's an issue as well, but initially freeing up the flag for non-commercial 

purposes, to be used by our communities as logos—[inaudible] could use it on—would probably rectify some of 

the angst the communities have about using the flag. One of the points that Ms Piper makes and I totally support 

is that, as various state and territory jurisdictions are talking about treaty, it's a great opportunity for the nation to 

start looking at flags or icons that represent their own nation. I'd love to see the Ngunawal flag flying over 

Canberra. I think those items could be used not only as a way of expressing nationhood of individual nations but 

potentially also as economic revenue for those nations. 

Senator DODSON:  Do any of you know of any prosecutions of organisations or individuals that may have 

happened as a consequence of these cease and desist notices? 

Mr Janke:  I don't know of anyone who's had any legal action taken against them by WAM Clothing. I do 

know that Flagworld have taken some action over a company making a different version of the Aboriginal flag, 

but I think it's still ongoing. 

CHAIR:  Ms Piper? 

Senator DODSON:  She's on mute. 

Ms Piper:  Sorry. I've said everything really deadly, and now I'm going to start again—no, I'm joking. No, I 

haven't. I think Moira mentioned that she didn't, obviously because she'd kind of exhausted the rest of her stuff 

before the deadline. So it's a no. 

CHAIR:  Mr Walker? 

Mr Walker:  No, not in the ACT. 

CHAIR:  Senator Dodson, last question. 

Senator DODSON:  This may be to Mr Walker. You mentioned, Mr Walker, that many of your young people 

are not conscious of any restriction on the flag, or words to that effect, and that they're still using it. Have you had 

any discussions with the police about any potential prosecutions? 

Mr Walker:  No, not as yet, but I think that could be something. Another role that I play here in the ACT is on 

the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander elected body, and that's something that we'll be talking about in the not-

too-distant future—how we might have to talk to the Australian Federal Police about whether any approaches 

were made to young people on that basis. But we haven't had any discussion with them at this time. 

Senator DODSON:  Okay. 

CHAIR:  Senator O'Sullivan, you have the call. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Thank you very much. My questions have really been answered, so I just want to 

make a quick comment. Can I just say to the NAIDOC representatives: thank you very much for the way you've 

approached these questions today. Your support today is very constructive. As a wadjela fella sitting here on 

Noongar land, I myself have learnt so much over the years through engaging with NAIDOC events, and I just 

want to say to you as an organisation: thank you very much for the work you do. I just wanted to take this 

opportunity. 

Mr Walker:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Senator O'Sullivan. Can I wrap up with a couple of questions, largely to you, Mr Janke. 

You made mention of the ATSIC situation, and I just wondered if you could perhaps give us a little bit more 

indication on your thoughts about the ATSI Act 2006, the 3,300 orgs that you mentioned under the CATSI Act to 

use, and just what it is you'd like our committee to really look at here in relation to those. 

Mr Janke:  If you were to look at the federal government acquiring a non-commercial worldwide licence, 

similar to that which ATSIC signed in December 2001, what legislation would underpin that agreement? In 2001, 

it was the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Act. That's no longer in existence. What's the legislation that 

encompasses the majority of Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander organisations or corporations? At the moment 

it's the CATSI Act, which has about 3,300 organisations. You might also be able to include not-for-profit 

organisations and charities that are listed under the commission's register. You could extend that to Indigenous 

businesses, if the businesses were part of a commercial licence, and registration with Supply Nation. I think the 

object of using the CATSI Act is that it would filter down to as many organisations, corporations and community 

based companies as possible. If you think that there are 3,300 organisations, they might cover hundreds of 
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thousands of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people within their core functions, so something like that 

would allow them to use it for non-commercial purposes. 

CHAIR:  We've just heard also from sporting organisations and grassroots community sports organisations. 

Would you see those included in that, or would that be additional to the 3,300 under the CATSI Act? We can 

obviously look into it, but, with your experience, what are your thoughts on that? 

Mr Janke:  I think a lot of organisations would be registered under the CATSI Act and they would be able to 

use it for non-commercial purposes. The problem that I can see for sporting teams is using the Aboriginal flag on 

their sleeves an emblem. As I've previously stated, there could be something like an emblem agreement where, if 

it's used just as an emblem and not as the main artwork of the jersey or the sporting apparel, that might be 

accommodated under a licensing agreement. 

CHAIR:  Alright. Thank you very much, Ms Piper, Mr Walker and Mr Janke, for appearing here before the 

committee today. It has been fantastic to hear from you. And thank you also to all our NAIDOC committees 

across the country. You do an amazing job. We're going to a break. 

Proceedings suspended from 16:32 to 16:45 
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FAITHFULL, Ms Hollie, Chief Financial Officer, Torres Strait Island Regional Council 

KREBS, Mr Peter, Legal Counsel and Manager, Torres Strait Island Regional Council 

MOSBY, Mayor Phillemon, Mayor, Torres Strait Island Regional Council 

RANGA, Mr Luke, Head of Corporate Affairs, Torres Strait Island Regional Council 

Evidence was taken via teleconference—  

CHAIR:  I welcome representatives from the Torres Strait Island Regional Council. Thank you very, very 

much for taking the time to give evidence today. We certainly very much appreciate it. Information about 

parliamentary privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. Would you like to make a 

brief opening statement before we go to questions from the senators? Mayor Mosby, I'll hand over to you and 

your team.  

Mayor Mosby:  Kulkalgaw Ya language spoken; the translation follows— I acknowledge our creator, God, for 

this day to talk about this business. I acknowledge the people of this land and the lands from which we are all 

speaking from, acknowledging their elders and leaders, past, present and emerging. 

I'd like to acknowledge our great creator [inaudible] spirit upon our lives, his favour, blessing and provision. I'd 

also like to acknowledge the traditional owners from the lands that we speak from. I pay my respects to their 

elders past, present and emerging. 

Thank you for the opportunity to speak here today. I'm absolutely honoured and privileged to speak on the very 

important topic of First Nations people of this great south land of ours here—the First Nations people of 

Australia, our brethren, the Aboriginal people. We share the same issues and struggles throughout the length and 

breadth of Australia and the Torres Strait; we have common issues, and like our Aboriginal brothers and sisters 

our flag unites us as a nation of people. It reminds us of who we are, where we've come from and the dreams and 

aspirations that we leave today to pass onto our future generations. I'm absolutely honoured to be here as the 

mayor of the Torres Strait to speak on behalf of our people on the importance of this process. We support our 

Aboriginal brothers and sisters, but I'm also pleased to speak on how we're managing this process in the Torres 

Strait. That's all. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mayor Mosby. I'll go to Senator Dodson to lead off with questions. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you, Mayor Mosby and colleagues, for being present today. It must be a great 

relief to be able to beam in from there, rather than having to travel all those miles to come to Canberra. It's good 

to see you all. I hope you are all well with this virus stuff and your proximity to New Guinea. Mayor Mosby, 

could you give us a bit of brief history of the Torres Strait flag and the current ways in which you manage that? 

Could you tell us a little bit about the artist and how he's recognised and what, if any, remuneration is paid to his 

family or to his descendants? I know I've asked a lot of things there. For most of us we're familiar with the First 

Nations flag in Australia. We understand the Torres Strait Islander flag, but we're not so clear about its origins 

and how it's being managed. It's been raised as a good example for us to look at in maybe the way going forward. 

Mayor Mosby:  Thank you for the question. The Torres Strait Islander flag was designed by the late Bernard 

Namok Snr as an entry in a design competition, which was held as part of a cultural revival workshop in 1992. 

The competition was run by The Islands Coordinating Council, a Queensland statutory body representing the 

community councils of the Torres Strait. In March 2008 the Torres Strait Island Regional Council replaced The 

Islands Coordinating Council. In 1992 our flag was also recognised by the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

Commission, ATSIC, and was given equal prominence with the Australian Aboriginal flag. It was then 

recognised as an official flag of Australia under the Flags Act 1953 by proclamation on 14 July 1995. 

Bernard Snr's design represents our unique region and culture. It stands for the unity and identity of all Torres 

Strait Islanders. The two green lines represent the land. The blue represents the sea. The black represents our 

community, the people of the Torres Strait. The centre symbol is a headdress. The five-pointed star represents the 

five clusters of the Torres Strait, as well as the seafaring navigation. White is representative of peace. 

We welcome organisations and individuals wanting to fly our flag. Those organisations and individuals do not 

require our permission to do so. Council does, however, grant permission for requests made to reproduce the 

Torres Strait Islander flag subject to the following conditions: where appropriate, recognition is given to the 

original designer, the late Mr Bernard Namok Snr; the original PMS colours are used and permission must be 

received in writing from council prior to its use. Council does not currently seek financial reimbursement for the 

use of, or to reproduce, the Torres Strait flag. As I stated, this would be counterproductive to the purpose of 

driving wide acknowledgment and celebration of our island, identity and culture. 
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Senator DODSON:  Thank you for that, Mr Mayor. How many applications to the council would there be in a 

year for the use of the flag? 

Mayor Mosby:  We'll take that on notice. I'll have my staff respond with further details on that. 

CHAIR:  If you take that question on notice, the committee does require answers by 30 September—for your 

information. 

Mayor Mosby:  Thank you very much. 

Senator DODSON:  Are you aware of what's happening with the Aboriginal flag in the current circumstances? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes. We've been fully briefed by our council officers here with the Torres Strait Island 

Regional Council. It's our current policy position that we'll continue with the status quo. As per island custom, we 

always do things in consultation with the Namok family before we do anything. Although the copyright sits with 

the council, in previous years we've always done things in consultation with the Namok family. 

Senator DODSON:  Is the Aboriginal flag used on clothing or by various island councils or organisations in 

the Torres Strait? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes, it's used in some island communities. It's used by sporting or cultural groups which have 

connections to Aboriginal people on the Cape. You'll see both flags sit side-by-side on clothing and at events. 

Senator DODSON:  Are you aware if any of those organisations or individuals have been issued with a cease-

and-desist notice from a company called WAM? 

Mayor Mosby:  No, I'm not aware of that; I haven't been informed. I do know that when this issue cropped up 

a lot of people in the Torres Strait who have connections to Aboriginal people here on the mainland and in the 

Torres Strait stopped using it. That's sad, in a way, because although we're Torres Strait Islanders a lot of us do 

have Aboriginal connections and we want to celebrate both our cultures and identities. 

Senator DODSON:  Has there been any communication with your council from the Australian government on 

how the Torres Strait Islands flag is administered or managed? 

Mayor Mosby:  Not that I'm aware of, but I've just come into this role and my whole focus has been around 

COVID—as you would know! But I'll take that on notice and follow it up with my deputy, who has been in 

council for quite some time—Councillor Getano Lui. 

Senator DODSON:  Oh, yes. Thank you, and we look forward to your responses. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you to the witnesses for participating today. I would just like to clarify something: 

has the council always allowed free permission to use the Torres Strait Islander flag? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes. 

Senator THORPE:  Okay. Various witnesses have said that if the Aboriginal flag were allowed to be used and 

reproduced freely they fear this may make the Aboriginal flag more vulnerable to being exploited. Have you 

found that the Torres Strait Islander flag is being exploited in any way? And, if so, how? 

Mayor Mosby:  I think it's important to note that, as a council with limited funding and resources, we can at 

times be restricted as to what actions can be taken when instances occur with copyright infringements and misuse 

of the flag design. We've always been of the opinion that we don't want to—because a lot of people aren't aware 

of Torres Strait Islanders let alone where Torres Strait is, it's worked in our interests to raise the profile and 

educate the wider Australian community about Torres Strait Islanders and where Torres Strait is. I must state, 

however, that there have been some instances of misuse of the flag. 

Senator THORPE:  How do you handle the misuse? What are the steps taken from the council to avoid that 

exploitation or what did you do when it was exploited? 

Mayor Mosby:  It's done through a contact officer. In this instance, it's now the head of corporate affairs. We 

look at the issues and a recommendation's brought to council, and we seek legal advice on it before we pursue 

anything. 

Senator THORPE:  You touched on the resources and, maybe, the capacity to monitor or police the Torres 

Strait Islander flag. This is obviously something that we need to look at as a committee, in terms of the Aboriginal 

flag. I'm interested, from your point of view, whether that should also be taken into account when we're looking at 

the Aboriginal flag, because it will come up. 

Mayor Mosby:  Because it sat with the council and the council has limited resources, there are people that can 

follow up on things and there's access to legal advice and there's that support mechanism in place. As the mayor I 

really strongly believe that, even moving forward, it's in the best interests—in our language we say [Indigenous 

language not transcribed], which means it's in everybody's interests; Torres Strait Islanders—for it to remain in a 
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neutral body, where we have elected members that are elected at length from community to sit there and represent 

the rights and interests and is the voice of our people. That's one of the advantages I see with it sitting in council, 

in a mutual quantity. 

Senator THORPE:  When somebody wants to use the Torres Strait Islander flag, do they need to seek 

permission in writing? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes, that's correct. 

Senator THORPE:  And you have one officer who takes those inquiries or requests? 

Mayor Mosby:  We have a team. On each island there's a contact person, the head divisional manager. That 

gets filtered or communicated through to our corporate affairs. For external entities and bodies, they can contact, 

directly, the head of corporate affairs. 

Senator THORPE:  Does that work well? 

Mayor Mosby:  It works very well. For people who have English as their third or fourth language, they speak 

directly to officers in each of our 15 divisions throughout the Torres Strait. 

CHAIR:  Before I go to Senator Davey, Mayor Mosby, I might continue with Senator Thorpe's line of 

questioning there. You said that there has been misuse of the Torres Strait Island flag, and you responded to 

Senator Thorpe's questions around what your next steps are. I'm just wondering whether you can also give 

examples of what the misuse was? 

Mayor Mosby:  It's mainly on clothing. There have been companies, mainly overseas, that have reproduced 

the Torres Strait flag. Reports have come directly from community for us to follow up, and we've had officers 

available to make those phone calls to follow up on misuse where we've had non-Indigenous international 

companies and businesses overseas reproducing the Torres Strait flag on merchandise. 

CHAIR:  You may wish to respond to this question publicly or you may wish to do so privately. Are you able 

to name those international companies to the inquiry? You may choose to do so publicly or in camera. 

Mayor Mosby:  I'm not going to comment on that, thank you. 

CHAIR:  Can you seek advice on that, and then we'll give you until 30 September to be able to respond to us. 

Mayor Mosby:  Thank you very much. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mayor Mosby, because they will be important examples for us to understand—just so 

you're aware. On that line of questioning, you've said that—actually, I'll come back to it. I'll go to Senator Davey 

first. 

Senator DAVEY:  I'm going to pick up that line as well. The way your council manages the flag has been 

brought up time and time again before this committee as an appropriate way of managing, so I think it's really 

important for all of us to understand. I'd like to put to you a hypothetical. If I, as a non-Indigenous person and 

someone not living in the Torres Strait, wanted to reproduce the flag, could I apply to your council to do so? 

Provided I gave due recognition to Mr Namok, used the right colours and got your approval in writing, I would 

get permission? Do you ask what purposes I would be using the reproduction for? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes, that is the current process. We do ask questions as to how it's going to be used, how long 

for and whether it's going to be licensed to another company or somebody else. We do go through that checklist to 

make sure that we're on top of it; we know where it's going. 

Senator DAVEY:  If I wanted to put it on a T-shirt and sell it commercially, is that something that you would 

approve as long as I still met those requirements, or would you actually not give me approval for that? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes, we do give approval. 

Senator DAVEY:  That's really good to know. So in the past the misuse has been when people haven't sought 

approval either and they've just gone ahead. We've heard from a lot of sporting codes that in the past they've put 

both the Aboriginal flag and the Torres Strait Islander flag on their jerseys, particularly during Indigenous rounds. 

Do those codes get permission from you beforehand? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes. 

Senator DAVEY:  So there are no restrictions? As long as they get all of those permissions, which is the 

appropriate thing to do, they can use it? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes. 

Senator DAVEY:  You've got quite a significant team for a very small organisation with, as you say, limited 

funds. You've got someone on each island, plus your corporate affairs manager, managing the process. I know 
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you've been asked how many applications you get. When you look at providing us with that information, would 

you be able to give an estimate of how many man-hours go towards granting these approvals—noting that it 

seems to be a very streamlined approval process? 

So I congratulate you on that. I'm just trying to get a sense. Too many people imagine it's too hard. 

CHAIR:  Mayor Mosby, just to clarify, that is a second question on notice there, in addition to the one that you 

received from Senator Dodson. 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes. We're happy to provide it by the due date, Chair. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. 

Senator DAVEY:  I don't think I've got anything further at this stage. I really appreciate this, and I'm listening 

and learning so much. So I appreciate you coming before us. I've just got a mental block, but I don't believe I have 

a further question. 

CHAIR:  Mayor Mosby, I'll go back to the questions I was asking there. You mentioned that on each island 

there is a contact person, and that's the 15 divisions. 

Mayor Mosby:  That's correct. 

CHAIR:  So that's 15 people? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes. They're called divisional managers. There are 15 divisions. They have a head 

administrator on the ground, and they're called the divisional managers. They report to a regional manager, who 

feeds it up to their supervisor and to the head of corporate affairs, and then it comes from there to our CEO. 

CHAIR:  Okay. So that's the streamlined process that you have. Is it those 15 division managers who have the 

say for their particular division, or does it always have to come all the way to you? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes, it has to come up to the council. 

CHAIR:  Okay. On what basis, if any, would the Torres Strait Island Regional Council not approve an 

application to use the flag? Are there any examples of where you'd say no? I'm going to break it into two sections. 

Where you'd say no to one or all of those 15 divisions, what would the refusal be based on? Then I'll ask you 

about outside of the TI area. 

Mayor Mosby:  It wouldn't be to community as such. It would be an outsider who is using it not with good 

intentions. It would be for more external people where they don't fulfil those requirements, those check-offs that 

we have in place, to approve it with the appropriate colour and give recognition to the designer of the flag. We 

tend to think and apply island custom and good custom to everything that we do, and I think that's the beauty 

about why it's safe for the flag. It has been safe where the flag has remained with the council, because island 

custom is paramount when we make decisions about when we're granting this. If it harms our culture and our 

identity, that's when we say no. 

CHAIR:  If the process is that it goes through the 15 division managers to the council and then the council 

would discuss it, would the discussions about whether to say yes or no to the use of the flag be minuted? 

Mayor Mosby:  The end outcome. Most applications go through the website, and the discussions won't be 

minuted. But, if there's a sensitive or legal implication on the decision granting it, the outcome would be minuted. 

CHAIR:  So that bit would be minuted—whether it's endorsed or not endorsed? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes. That's correct. 

CHAIR:  And do people then have a right of complaint or questioning? Do they have a process to ask why, if 

it has not been endorsed? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes. There are processes in place where they can appeal the decision and it can be revisited 

[inaudible] information. 

CHAIR:  Again, through the council process? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes, but that hasn't really happened. 

CHAIR:  I know you've taken some questions on notice, just about the process and the application, so it would 

be good to understand just how many in that answer have been endorsed and how many were not endorsed. I 

think this is really good information for our committee, Mayor Mosby, as we're trying to deliberate over the future 

recommendations around the Aboriginal flag. I know that Senator Davey has a few more questions, so I'll go back 

to Senator Davey. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you. It is further, online, to get clarification about how much time this takes. I want 

to clarify that this is not your only role as the regional council, is it? You are a fully-fledged council under the 
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Local Government Act for Queensland, so you've got to deal with this as well as rates and roads and everything 

else. 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes. 

Senator DAVEY:  Do you find that you're going through applications monthly or are there certain times of the 

year where you get more applications? I note you also said organisations and individuals don't necessarily need 

permission. Is that on the Torres Strait, like your health services or people in the Torres Strait? How do you 

determine that? 

Mayor Mosby:  In the Torres Strait, we don't require the organisations in communities throughout the region 

to put in an application. Even right down to clans, we don't require them to put in an application. For 

organisations down south, whether it's an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander medical health centre, we don't even 

require them to, because that's a national symbol of our people. We want them to see the flag, no matter where it 

is, as a safe place for them to gather. It's their place to do business. Therefore, we don't expect them to put in an 

application to seek approval. 

We welcome anyone to fly the flag as a beacon of the people of the Torres Strait. It's scattered right across the 

Torres Strait. It's important to note that not all users are captured, but it's important to have our identity out there, 

being recognised. That's when we put our hands on our chests and say: 'They're flying our flag. We're out there. 

They know that we're here.' 

Senator DAVEY:  I know there are a lot of organisations on the mainland who fly the flag and have the Torres 

Strait Islander flag alongside the Aboriginal flag to show that they provide services and that they respect all 

peoples. I think it really does symbolise a place of safety. Since the flag was established in 1992, I think you said, 

can you give us a bit of background as to what the conversation was prior to 1992 that led to the decision to 

actually develop one flag to unify all Torres Strait clans? 

Mayor Mosby:  I wish my deputy was here to talk about it, because it was during his time. I was told that it 

was during a time where Torres Strait Islanders were talking about greater control, greater autonomy, self-

determination and self-management. We realised that we didn't have a symbol for the Torres Strait Islanders—

that we were a minority within a minority. We wanted to have something that could unite us. There were talks by 

the elders at that time about designing a flag that would bring people together, to stand together in unity. That's 

what led to it. I only hope, moving forward, that TSIRC is able to continue that aspiration—that it is the symbol 

and that TSIRC becomes the beacon which gathers our people. I hope that we're on a revolving journey for 

greater control, self-determination and self-management for our people. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you, very much. 

CHAIR:  Mayor Mosby, I want to go to the question of people outside the Torres Strait Island communities. I 

mean here—whether it's the NRL or larger sporting bodies—people who do apply to the council. Do they go 

through the same process as those who live in those 15 divisions? 

Mayor Mosby:  Yes. It's the same process that everybody goes through. 

CHAIR:  Okay. So there's the raising of the flag and the flying of the flag, but then you also have the concerns 

around the use of the flag on memorabilia, souvenirs and clothing. How does that work? 

Mayor Mosby:  Both the NRL and AFL are very respectful of our process. When they submit an application 

on our website an officer gets back to them to clarify what things the flag will be used on. 

CHAIR:  Is there also a discussion in that process about costs or any kind of revenue that could come back to 

council as a result of being able to use the logo on any clothing or memorabilia? 

Mayor Mosby:  Not currently. 

CHAIR:  But there has been? 

Mayor Mosby:  No. 

CHAIR:  No—okay. In terms of the ongoing recognition of the designer of the flag: how is that ongoing 

recognition carried out? Is it merely a respect thing or are there other steps that the council takes for that ongoing 

recognition of the Namok family? 

Mayor Mosby:  Our communities celebrate the anniversary of the Torres Strait Islander flag's conception 

annually on 29 May. As of last year, that's now officially recognised as a gazetted public holiday for the Torres 

Strait region. That's the day when all our divisions are closed and there are special celebrations right across the 15 

islands, celebrating the Torres Strait flag and recognising the flag designer, Bernard Namok Sr. 



Page 54 Senate Thursday, 24 September 2020 

 

ABORIGINAL FLAG SELECT COMMITTEE 

CHAIR:  Alright. On that note, the committee would like to extend its thanks to you, Mayor Mosby, and the 

Torres Strait Islands Regional Council. In particular, our thanks and respects go to the Namok family. We do 

understand that Bernard Namok Jr was going to give evidence today. We'd certainly like to extend our thanks to 

him and wish the Namok family well in their endeavours going forward. But we thank you greatly, in particular, 

for the advice and insight that you've given us this afternoon. 

Mayor Mosby:  Esso—thank you. 

CHAIR:  Senators, I just have some formalities to deal with here in closing. I need to seek a motion from a 

member of the committee to accept any tabled documents from today's proceedings. Senator Davey, you're on 

mute, but I'll take that as a yes! That concludes today's proceedings. The committee has agreed that answers to 

questions taken on notice at today's hearing should be returned by Wednesday, 30 September 2020. I thank all the 

witnesses for their evidence today. I also thank Hansard, Broadcasting and the secretariat for their work on today's 

hearing.  

Committee adjourned at 17:25 
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